Mauri Tu, Mauri Ora: A Process Evaluation

By

Alexander Jones

A thesis submitted to Victoria University of Wellington in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Forensic Psychology

Victoria University of Wellington

MTMO EVALUATION iii

Abstract

Rates of violent reoffending amongst young offenders has been a cause of concern for those involved in the youth justice (YJ) system in New Zealand (NZ), and across the world. Although, the rates of youth offending in NZ appear to be declining, there is a trend of increasing violent youth offending (Ministry of Justice; MOJ, 2010, 2012). Therefore, the search for effective and generalisable treatment programmes for violent young offenders has been a focus for those involved in juvenile offending research (Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2013). The Mauri Tu Mauri Ora programme (MTMO; Kilgour & Borg, 2016), was developed in 2014 to provide an "intensive rehabilitation option for youth between 16 and 20 years of age who are deemed to be at a high risk of re-offending" (p. 27). However, since its implementation, there has been no systematic evaluation of its effectiveness. This process evaluation investigated how the MTMO programme was operating so its strengths and areas of improvement could be better understood. This was achieved by detailing the characteristics of the programme; the extent to which it met the needs of key stakeholders; evaluating the specific components of the programme; the working relationship between staff; how well the programme was delivered; and identifying possible areas of improvement. The perspectives of participants resulting in 28 subthemes associated with: initial engagement and assessment; treatment delivery and engagement; the transition phase; unit environment; and staff services. Along with a discussion, these findings identify areas the MTMO programme can build on its strengths and areas it can make improvements.

Acknowledgements

Mā ngā huruhuru ka rere te manu

It is the feathers that enable the bird to fly

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Clare-Ann Fortune, for her amazing support and feedback. Clare-Ann has been excellent in giving both practical and research advice throughout this journey – I have really enjoyed working with her and have learnt so much. To Seb, Roisin, Fiona, and Dan, thank you for all your support in the lab – I have relished our interesting discussions (research related or not).

I would like to thank the management and staff of both Oranga Tamariki and the Department of Corrections for their assistance and participation in this research. I would also like to thank the young people and whanau for participating in the research, and sharing their experiences with me.

Thank you to the Forensic Psychology Lab and the Clinical Psychology group for their help along the way. Simon's 'Weekly Goals' were essential in the completion of this thesis.

Thanks to Lydia for her help in the painstaking transcription process.

Cheers to the writers of Betoota Advocate and the developers of FIFA 17 for providing me with much needed entertainment and distraction.

Finally, a special thanks to my friends (particularly the 33a whanau & Molina & Georgia - for her first class hospitality in Auckland), and family for their love and support along the way - I couldn't have thrown this together without you.

Table of Contents

| Abstract | iii |
|-------------------------------------|-----|
| Acknowledgements | iv |
| List of Tables | X |
| Introduction | 11 |
| The Prevalence of Youth Offending | |
| Theories of Violent Youth Offending | |
| Behavioural theories | 14 |
| Cognitive-behavioural theories | |
| Systems theories | 17 |
| Rehabilitation Frameworks | |
| Risk, Need, and Responsivity | |
| Good Lives Model | 20 |
| Assessment | 22 |
| Treatment | 26 |
| Treatment modality | 26 |
| Treatment method | 28 |
| Treatment implementation | 29 |
| Living group climate | 30 |
| Aftercare | 30 |

| The NZ YJ System | 31 |
|--|----|
| Residential Services | 31 |
| Implications of the Literature for the Current Study | 32 |
| Evaluation Objectives | 33 |
| Methodology | 33 |
| Programme Evaluation | 33 |
| Process Evaluation | 34 |
| Evaluation Model | 36 |
| Cultural Consultation | 37 |
| Qualitative Methodology | 38 |
| Thematic analysis | 39 |
| Method | 39 |
| Participants | 39 |
| Interview Schedule Development | 42 |
| Procedures | 43 |
| Data Analysis | 45 |
| Programme Descriptions | 48 |
| Overview of the MTMO Programme | 48 |
| Programme Goals | 49 |
| Referral Procedures | 50 |

| Assessment Processes | 50 |
|---|----|
| Assessment Tools | 51 |
| Therapeutic Approaches | 51 |
| Māori Health Models | 52 |
| Te Whare Tapa Whā | 52 |
| Tuakana-teina | 53 |
| Pasifika Health Models | 53 |
| Fono'fale model | 53 |
| Participant Perspectives of Programme Implementation and Discussion | 54 |
| Programme Manual and Resources | 54 |
| Developmentally-appropriate session guides | 54 |
| Mixed views on manual flexibility | 57 |
| Prepared material | 59 |
| An appropriate therapeutic space | 60 |
| Programme Structure | 61 |
| Revising the rolling group structure | 62 |
| Initial Engagement and assessment | 64 |
| Provide more information about the programme | 65 |
| A more structured approach to referrals | 67 |
| Timely completion of assessments | 68 |

| | Systems-based assessment | . 70 |
|---|---|------|
| | An evidence-based approach | . 73 |
| | Assessment of readiness for treatment | . 75 |
| | Complete follow-up assessments | . 77 |
| T | reatment Delivery and Engagement | . 79 |
| | Improving the starter phase | . 79 |
| | Individualised treatment | . 81 |
| | Strengths-based approach | . 83 |
| | Session preparation time | . 85 |
| | Group cohesiveness | . 86 |
| | Value of breaks | . 88 |
| | A strong therapeutic alliance | . 89 |
| | Dual-Role | . 92 |
| | More whānau involvement | . 94 |
| T | he Transition Phase | . 96 |
| | Improve the transition plan | . 96 |
| | Introduce aftercare services | . 98 |
| T | he Unit Environment | 101 |
| | Improved unit staff and case leader training | 102 |
| | Improved communication between programme and unit staff | 106 |

| A dedicated therapeutic unit | 107 |
|----------------------------------|-----|
| Staff Services | 110 |
| Increase facilitator training | 110 |
| Increase facilitator supervision | 113 |
| General Discussion | 116 |
| Procedural Cascades | 116 |
| Limitations | 118 |
| Future Research and Applications | 119 |
| Conclusion | 120 |
| References | 121 |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Demographic characteristics of adolescent participants | . 41 |
|---|------|
| Table 2. The focus of enquiry for each group of participants | . 43 |

Introduction

Rates of reoffending amongst a high-risk proportion of young people who have offended (YPO) has been a cause of concern for those involved in the youth justice (YJ) system here in New Zealand (NZ), and across the world. For example, although the rates of youth offending in NZ appear to be declining, there is a trend of increasing violent youth offending (MOJ, 2010, 2012). Therefore, the search for effective and generalisable treatment programmes for high-risk YPO has been a focus for those involved in youth offending research (Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2013).

The Mauri Tu Mauri Ora programme (MTMO; Kilgour & Borg, 2016), was developed in 2014 to provide an "intensive rehabilitation option for youth between 16 and 20 years of age who are deemed to be at a high risk of re-offending" (p. 27). The MTMO programme was developed by the Department of Corrections (Corrections), however, it is now being run by Oranga Tamariki–Ministry for Children (OT). The programme is currently run in the Korowai Manaaki YJ residence in South Auckland. Since its implementation in the YJ context, there has been no systematic evaluation of its effectiveness. As the programme has been running for just over two years, a process evaluation is the appropriate method of appraisal (Patton, 2008). Process evaluations focus on the internal operations of a programme to better understand its strengths and weaknesses (Dehar, Casswell, & Duignan, 1993).

This study aims to investigate how the MTMO programme is operating by detailing the characteristics of the programme; the extent to which it meets the needs of key stakeholders; evaluating the specific components of the programme; the working relationship between staff; how well the programme is delivered; and identifying possible areas of improvement.

This chapter will discuss the prevalence of offending amongst youth, particularly looking at YPO's with extensive offending histories and those who have offended violently, theories of youth offending; correctional rehabilitation frameworks; the assessment and treatment of YPO's; and finally, the NZ YJ system. The second chapter will describe the methodology; consider programme evaluation theory and models, qualitative methodology, thematic analysis, and the way these were applied in the current study. The third chapter will provide a description of the MTMO programme. Chapter four will summarise the participant's views within several themes and sub-themes, and how these relate to the body of literature on youth offending rehabilitation. This will then be followed by a conclusion which summarises the study.

The Prevalence of Youth Offending

In NZ, the overall apprehension rate for youth between the ages of 14 and 16 was 1572 per 10,000 in 2008 (MOJ, 2010). Between 2011 and 2016, there was a 45% decrease in children and youth being charged in court (MOJ, 2017). However, the apprehension rate for violent offending appeared to increase by 13% over this period. While this increase may reflect an increase in violent offending, it may also reflect techniques used by frontline police officers. (e.g., diversion, hot-spot policing, reporting measures).

Recidivism rates show a troubling number of YPO are unable to desist from offending.

Of those young people on YJ Supervision with Residence Orders – the most severe YJ order – in 2015 (aged between 14-17 years), almost 90% reoffended within one year of their release (Spier & Sun, 2016). This suggests resources used for reducing offending may best be targeted at YPO who have the highest risk of reoffending.

According to Judge Becroft (May, 2004), in NZ, one fifth of all YPO are responsible for 80% of all offences committed by young people. This is consistent with international

longitudinal studies, such as the Denver and Rochester Youth Development Study (Thornberry, Huizinga, & Loeber, 1995), which highlight a small subset of serious and persistent YPO. In the Denver Youth Study, individuals with persistent and violent offending patterns comprised 14% of the sample, however, they committed 82% of all reported violent offences. Furthermore, longitudinal research (e.g., Moffitt, 1993) shows high-risk youth are likely to offend persistently across the majority of their lifespan. Thornberry and colleagues concluded, "If we do not successfully reach this small group, we will leave the vast majority of the violence problem untouched" (1995, p. 220).

These findings are consistent with much of the youth offending research. That is, amongst YPO's, there tends to be a small group of young people who commit a large proportion of the offending – particularly serious and violent offending (Baglivio, Jackowski, Greenwald, & Howell, 2014). This small group of youth can be distinguished from other YPO's in the amount of harm they perpetrate, their early age of onset, and their longer duration of offending behaviour. Among other difficulties, these young people also have greater substance-use issues, mental health issues, poor self-control, problems in school, and more extensive victimisation histories (Moffitt, 1993). As this group of young people commit the most harm and have the most significant needs, programmes such as the MTMO target their resources at this population.

Theories of Violent Youth Offending

Before evaluating the evidence base for YPO treatment, it is important to discuss the theories of YPO. Ward, Melser, and Yates (2007), suggests a good theory of rehabilitation has three components: (1) a set of principles which underlie rehabilitation practice (see *rehabilitation frameworks* section); (2) etiological assumptions which look to explain offending, help therapists understand what variables to target, and how to go about targeting these; and (3) the specific

treatment techniques used to create change in individuals with offending histories (see *treatment* section). This section will therefore give a brief overview of the theories which look to explain violent offending amongst young people.

Before beginning, it is important to note that no single cause is sufficient to explain offending. Rather, it is a combination of multiple causal processes and their associated mechanisms of influence (Hoge, Guerra, & Boxer, 2008). This section will structure theories according to the Cognitive Behavioural Developmental Systems (CBDS) framework which argues the young person should be viewed in the context of their systems, and that the interaction of cognition, behaviour, and development should all be considered (Mash & Dozois, 2003).

Behavioural theories

Behavioural theories state harmful behaviour is a learned behaviour. Social learning theory (Bandura, 1977) is an example of a behavioural theory. This theory states behaviour is learned through the environment via a process of observational learning. Bandura argues humans can adopt the behaviour of others not only through direct experience (i.e., reinforcement and punishment) but also on a vicarious basis by observing the behaviours of others, and their consequences. Social learning theory has support in the literature (see below). For example, Fox, Perez, Cass, Baglivio, and Epps (2015) examined the history of childhood trauma, abuse, neglect, and offending, in order to understand the differences between serious violent and chronic (SVC), and 'one-and-done' (O&D) YPO. The total number of adverse childhood experiences was double that for SVC YPO compared to their O&D counterparts. Importantly, the prevalence of household violence amongst SVC (39.6%) was nearly double that of O&D YPO. Applying social learning theory, it can be seen that, if a young person is living in an environment where they are commonly observing violence, they may start to imitate those behaviours

themselves. However, this is not to say that there are no other mechanisms underlying this violent behaviour.

Behavioural theories also feature prominently in developmental theories of conduct problems, particularly in relation to the concept of reinforcement. For example, coercion theory argues children learn to respond aggressively towards others by being reinforced for this behaviour (Patterson, 1976; Patterson, DeBaryshe, & Ramsey, 1990). For example, a mother may ask her child to do something, however, after he responds aggressively she withdraws which reinforces the child's aggression by removing the adverse stimuli and increases the likelihood of this occurring in the future. This learned behaviour then generalises to other contexts, such as school (Granic & Patterson, 2006). Although behavioural theories emphasis violence as learned behavioural – it also acknowledges the importance of the systems in shaping this learning.

Cognitive-behavioural theories

Although behavioural theories are helpful in understanding the development of antisocial behaviour, they lack any explanations of the mental processes which underlie behaviour. Cognitive-behavioural theories characterise "a purposeful attempt to preserve the positive features of the behavioural approaches, while also working to incorporate into a model the cognitive activity and information-processing factors of the individual" (Kendall & MacDonald, 1993, p. 387). Cognitive factors are also often implicated as mediators in the relationship between predisposing factors (e.g., genetics) and violence (Calvete & Orue, 2010).

Social information processing theory (Dodge, 1986), is one of the most robust cognitive-behavioural theories of aggressive behaviour in adolescents (Calvete & Orue, 2010). According to Crick and Dodge (1994), when individuals encounter ambiguous social situations, they process these according to a series of biases. Often these situations play out in the following

sequential manner: (a) the individual encodes cues associated with hostile intent; (b) the individual attributes the intent of the other individual as hostile; (c) they then generate aggressive solutions to the situation; (d) the consequences of aggressive are appraised by the individual as positive; (e) the individual responds aggressively (Calvete & Orue). This theory has been supported by cross-sectional (e.g., De Castro, Veerman, Koops, Bosch, & Monshouwer, 2002) and longitudinal (e.g., Lansford et al., 2006) research.

While social information processing refers to the way individuals interpret and act on information, schemas refer to cognitive structures and content used to guide the processing of information (Hayden & Mash, 2014). According to Huesmann (1998) schemas are clusters of beliefs, attitudes and other types of cognitions which are a result of experience and learning. Using grounded theory, Polaschek, Calvert, and Gannon (2009) examined the schemas associated with violent offence narratives. Four schemas emerged from these narratives. Firstly, the schema of 'violence as normal' was identified which informed the other three schemas. According to this schema, violence is perceived as a routine occurrence between people, and is useful in helping achieve personal and social goals. The second schema was 'beat or be beaten' and refers to acting violently for self-enhancement and self-preservation. The third schema was 'I am the law'. Individuals who held this schema believed themselves to be superior to others and entitled to harm others when they felt required to. Finally, the schema 'I get out of control' was held by individuals who felt they could not regulate their own behaviour, which leads them to hold others responsible for their violent behaviour. However, there is no known studies to examine the schemas of YPO's. Therefore, this theory may not be appropriate or at least applied cautiously in explaining antisocial behaviour by young people until research has been conducted in this area.

Systems theories

Although the environment of the individual has been touched on previously, this section will expand on its relevance to the development of antisocial behaviour amongst adolescence. Human development is best seen as a "joint function of the person and their environment" (Bronfenbrenner, 1992, p. 188). More specifically, the characteristics of a person, at any given time point in their life, are a joint function of the processes operating in their environment and their personal characteristics over their life course.

The ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1992) is the best known and most applied systems theory for understanding human development. Within this theory an individual's characteristics are not shaped by one setting, but rather by a collection of interconnected settings. The theory states that there are five interrelated systems which operate in the individual's environment; the microsystems (e.g., family), mesosystems (e.g., interaction of peers and schooling), exosystems (e.g., mother's workplace and its impact on the home environment), mesosystems (culture and values), and the chronosystems (the interaction of all systems; Johns, Williams, & Haines, 2016).

Although all are important, the microsystem is the system operating most proximal to the individual and therefore is a good example of how systems impact on the individual. The microsystem is defined as "a pattern of activities, roles, and interpersonal relations, experienced by the developing person in any given face-to-face setting with particular physical and material features" (Bronfenbrenner, 1992, p. 226). Examples of settings include the home, school, and peers. Family relationship and parenting variables such as harsh and inconsistent discipline; low levels of parental warmth; and low levels of supervision have been consistently shown to be strong positive predictors of risk for antisocial behaviour (Gorman-Smith, Tolan, Loeber, &

Henry, 1998; Henggeler, 1989; Pasalich, Dadds, Hawes, & Brennan, 2012). Furthermore, low parental supervision, coupled with adolescent antisocial peers is a strong predict of adulthood violent behaviour (Van Ryzin & Dishion, 2013). This interaction between the family and peers would be included in the mesosystem.

This section has discussed several theories of antisocial behaviour amongst youth within a CBDS framework. Within a rehabilitation programme, these theories help therapists understand what factors they should be targeting, and the best way to go about targeting these variables. The next section, will review two rehabilitation frameworks which incorporate these etiological assumptions.

Rehabilitation Frameworks

Often in the literature, treatment and rehabilitation have been used interchangeably. As a result, researchers are at risk of misrepresenting the two concepts as meaning the same thing (Ward et al., 2007). Ward and colleagues (2007) argue treatment theories relate to "theories that incorporate psychological principles and concrete strategies that are applied to clinical settings to change the behaviour of offenders" (p. 212). Whereas, they define rehabilitation theory as "the overall aims, values, principles, and etiological assumptions that are used to guide therapist" (Ward et al., 2007; p. 212), and is therefore seen as a broader concept. This section will focus on the two main rehabilitation frameworks used in correctional settings; The Risk-Need-Responsivity (RNR; Andrews & Bonta, 2010), and Good Lives Model (GLM; Ward & Stewart, 2003).

Risk, Need, and Responsivity

The RNR principles represent the premier rehabilitation framework used in correctional settings (Andrews & Bonta, 2010). The RNR framework rests on three core principles. Firstly,

the intensity and dosage of intervention should match the individual's level of risk. More specifically, higher risk individuals should receive treatment of a higher dosage and intensity compared to low risk individuals. Secondly, the need principle states that for an intervention to be most effective, it must target the individual's criminogenic needs (Andrews & Bonta, 2010). Criminogenic needs are "dynamic risk factors that, when changed, are associated with changes in the probability of recidivism" (Andrews & Bonta, 2010, p. 49). In the YJ area, these criminogenic needs include: peers; education; substance abuse; leisure and recreation; personality and behaviour; attitudes and orientation (Schmidt, Campbell, & Houlding, 2011). Thirdly, the responsivity principle emphasis the use evidence-based intervention (general responsivity) which match the individual's characteristics (specific responsivity; e.g., personality style, level of motivation).

Studies of adherence to the RNR principles show significant differences in recidivism when each of the three principles are applied. Specifically, when the risk principle is adhered to there is, on average (across 374 studies), a 10% reduction in recidivism, compared to a 3% reduction when it is not (Andrews & Bonta, 2010). The effect size of adhering to the need principle is a 19% reduction, compared to an average 1% increase in recidivism when it is not. Thirdly, adhering to the responsivity principle results an average reduction of 23%, compared to 0.04% when it is not. Moreover, adherence to all three RNR principles resulted in the largest reductions in reoffending (Andrews & Bonta, 2010).

However, research on the application of RNR principles in the YJ section is less clear (Brogan, Haney-Caron, NeMoyer, & DeMatteo, 2015). In a meta-analysis of effective interventions for YPO, strong evidence for the risk principle was found (Lipsey, Howell, Kelly, Chapman, & Carver, 2010). However, Vincent, Guy, Gershenson, and McCabe (2012) found

intervention decisions were more often decided based on a judge's decision than a formal risk assessment. For YPO on probation it was found that youth had multiple criminogenic needs in the areas of education, employment, family, substance abuse, peer relationships, personality, anger management, leisure time, and antisocial attributes (Vieira, Skilling, & Peterson-Badali, 2009). Vieira and colleagues found that targeting these criminogenic needs led to significant reductions in reoffending. There is very little research, however, on the degree to which responsivity factors are identified and addressed in the YJ system (Brogan et al., 2015; Luong & Wormith, 2011). Nevertheless, the RNR is the most-researched rehabilitation framework currently utilised with individuals who have offending histories. The next section will focus on the GLM, which has received less research but suggests a more strengths-based approach is required when working with YPO's.

Good Lives Model

The GLM is a strength-based approached which seeks to reduce risk while also helping YPO to develop more meaningful lives through the attainment of prosocial goals in the form a Good Lives Plan (GLP; Fortune, Ward, & Willis, 2012). The GLM assumes everyone seeks the same 'primary goods'. These are: life, knowledge, excellence in work, excellence in play, excellence in agency, inner peace, friendship, community, spirituality, pleasure, and creativity (Ward & Gannon, 2006). However, the importance of each primary good differs between individuals. Secondary goods are the means by which individuals attempt to obtain their primary goods. These means may be prosocial (e.g., going to work as an accountant to achieve excellence in work), or antisocial (e.g., planning and executing a robbery to achieve excellence in work).

The GLM assists the individual to obtain primary goods in prosocial ways by developing intervention plans which target personal capabilities (e.g., skills, knowledge, opportunities), as

well as external resources (e.g., education, employment). By helping individuals to achieve their goals, the GLM suggests we can reduce criminogenic needs through skill-building (e.g., self-regulation, communication skills), and through a change in personal identity once an individual realises they can achieve their goals in prosocial ways.

The Good Lives Model (GLM) considers the evaluation of risks alongside the identification of strengths, needs and goals (Yates, Kingston, & Ward, 2009). According to Yates, Prescott, and Ward (2010), the GLM is underpinned by the assumption that, while risk based models such as those employed within traditional relapse prevention approaches are needed, they are not enough in themselves to address the needs of those with offending histories. Ward and Gannon (2006) argue interventions need to address dynamic risk through fostering the development of both internal and external resources for the individual, in addition to promoting goals which reflect personal identity.

A review of the literature shows the GLM is most commonly used with adults who offend (Willis & Ward, 2011; Willis, Yates, Gannon, & Ward, 2013), adults who are experiencing mental health issues (Barnao, Ward, & Casey, 2015), and adolescents with sexual offending histories (Fortune, Ward, & Print, 2014). The only study applying the GLM to individuals with violent offending histories was a hypothetical operationalisation case (Whitehead, Ward, & Collie, 2007). As a result, little is known about the effectiveness of the GLM with YPO who do not have sexual offending histories. However, Willis and Ward (2013) suggests that as the GLM incorporates each RNR principle, evidence for the effectiveness of the RNR can be seen as support for the GLM. Furthermore, studies showing the effectiveness of 'GLM related concepts' (e.g., focusing on approach goals, fulfilment, and therapeutic alliance), also show indirect support for the GLM (Willis & Ward, 2013).

Recently, Fortune (2017) has explored the theoretical application of the GLM to the rehabilitation of YPO's. It was argued that the GLM has the flexibility and breadth to support young people to develop the internal and external resources they require to achieve their goals in prosocial ways. As argued in the paper, the GLM facilitates a strong therapeutic alliance, and helps to engage young people in treatment as they are motivated to achieve their goals. For both the RNR and GLM to be effective, however, they require a comprehensive assessment of the individual's risk, needs, personal characteristics, strengths, and goals. The next section will outline how this is done in practice.

Assessment

Ward and colleagues (2007) state a good rehabilitation theory should identify clinical targets, and how treatment should advance in respect to these targets. Therefore, assessment and its role in informing intervention is a key part of any rehabilitation programme for YPO. Whyte (2009) identifies a variety of purposes for assessment in the YJ context: (1) to decide the appropriate sentences, interventions, and services; (2) to predict the likelihood of a young person reoffending; (3) to assess the severity of harm caused by any potential reoffending; (4) to identify the specific needs of the young person; (5) to ascertain any potential risk to themselves through their behaviour or the behaviour of others. Assessments are therefore multifaceted; the content of each assessment can vary depending on its specific purpose (Baker, Kelly, & Wilkinson, 2011).

There is an ongoing debate in the literature about the relevant content of an assessment (Baker et al., 2011). Currently rehabilitation focussed assessments tend to focus on risk (e.g., antisocial attitudes) and protective factors (e.g., prosocial peers). Although this approach does emphasise an empirical approach to assessment, it has been criticised in the literature for multiple reasons. Firstly, the identification and subsequent treatment of offence-related risk

factors may by insufficient to meet the developmental needs of young people (Day, Howells, & Rickwood, 2004). More specifically, focusing purely on criminogenic needs can result in a lack of motivation, and neglecting non-criminogenic needs (e.g., low self-esteem), can reduce theraputic alliance (Brogan et al., 2015).

Secondly, assessments which focus purely on risk and protective factors have been criticised for being too narrow in scope (Youth Justice Board; YJB, 2008). More specifically, identifying categories of relevant risk and protective factors does not equate to explaining the causes or underlying mechanisms of a young person's offending behaviour (see Ward & Fortune, 2016 for further discussion). For example, depending on the particular young person, certain risk factors (e.g., substance use), can impact their offending patterns very differently. Understanding the processes by which substance use influences an individual's behaviour can inform the most appropriate intervention for that particular young person. Hayles (2006) argues this 'tick-box' approach results in "the reduction of the offender's unique human story to a catalogue of components, however, offers little insight into the meaning of offending within the offender's life as a whole or into personal desires, goals and ambitions, strengths, and solutions" (p. 69).

By constrast, assessment using the GLM also emphasises the importance of identifying non-criminogenic needs. Assessment using this framework looks to develop an individualised GLP. This plan includes assessment of: the individual's life history; their primary goods attained by offending; their overaching needs, secondary goods; whether they have an adequate scope or any conflicts in their primary goods; what internal and external obstancles there are to reducing their harmful behaviour; and what internal and external strengths they have (Wylie & Griffin, 2013).

In a rehabiliation programme, one of the primary aims of assessment is to inform the planning of treatment. An individualised assessment can inform: (1) the intensity of treatment; (2) the content of an individual's treatment; (3) and how those interventions should be delivered (Baker et al., 2011). It has been argued that practioners should separate the risk assessment process from that of the needs assessments, as one task involves prediction while the other requires explanation (Hamilton, Campagna, Tollefsbol, van Wormer, & Barnoski, 2017).

Individualised case management plans for high-risk youth which are associated with significantly more reductions in reoffending compared to non-individualised plans (Luong & Wormith, 2011). However, there have been weak links shown between assessment and the intervention plans which proceed them (YJB, 2008). This weak link has sizable implications for the likelihood of young people reoffending. When analysing the practices of youth probation officers, Peterson-Badali, Skilling, and Haqanee (2015) found when an individual's needs were not matched to treatment services, there were significantly higher rates of recidivism.

The introduction of RNR into the YJ system has usefully lead to the emphasis on evidence-based tools to guide the process and content used by practioners in their assessments of young people. Some tools have been primarily developed to assess static risk (eg., The Offender Group Reconviction Scale; Howard, 2009) while others incorperate dynamic risk factors (e.g., the Youth Level of Service: Case Management Inventory; YLS/CMI; Hoge & Andrews, 2002). The main benefit of these tools is that they provide comprehensive and consistent approaches to assessment by incorporating research-based frameworks for practice (Hoge, 2002; Whyte, 2009). More specifically, these tools are most useful for adding transparency to the individual domains that practitioners associate with offending (Whyte, 2009).

In the YJ system, these tools can faciliate: (1) the classfication of risk; (2) the development of an individualised intervention plan; (3) and provide a baseline for measuring changes in an individual's progress (Lipsey, 2009). However, there has been some concern these tools restrict practioner's capacity for professional judgement (Baker et al., 2011). They have also been critised for focusing too much on risk factors while neglecting the welfare of the individual (Field, 2007).

There have been some more practical concerns expressed about the assessment process in the literature (Day & Casey, 2011). As discussed above, risk assessments are used to provide a baseline for monitoring the young person's progress, and to develop a case management plan (Lipsey et al., 2010). Periodic assessments of criminogenic needs help managers to monitor the young person's progress and make adjustments to their individualised treatment plans. However, if these assessments are not completed regularly enough, these treatment plans will not be updated and are therefore lacking in relevance. There are multiple reasons for this, however, the focal issue appears to be time it takes to complete an assessment. The Youth Level of Service: Case Management Inventory (YLS:CMI; Hoge & Andrews, 2002) for example, has 42 questions and requires an interview and file assessment. The interview alone (excluding scoring, and file assessment) can take up to 45 minutes (Campbell et al., 2014). With increasing workloads, the cost/benefit analysis of performing regular assessments becomes increasingly one-sided (VanBenschoten, 2008).

This section has outlined: the content commonly used in assessments, presented a critical evaluation of this content, highlighted the need for an individualised assessment process, discussed the strengths and shortcomings of assessment tools, and the practical concerns of the

assessment process. The next section moves on to look at issues associated with the specific treatment strategies used with YPO.

Treatment

As stated above, treatment theories inform practitioners how to best elicit behavioural changes in individuals with offence histories. Ideally, treatment should be informed by etiological theories, and the individualised assessment process, which sits within a broader rehabilitation framework (Ward et al., 2007).

Before discussing specific treatment models and strategies, it is important to review what Hoge et al. (2008) describes as "critical components for the treatment of youth offenders" (p. 86). Firstly, interventions which are highly structured, and focus on individual skills and beliefs tend to be the most effective. Secondly, treatment which focuses on changing the cognitions and behaviours of YPO has the greatest effect. This can be seen in the Lipsey et al. (2010) meta-analysis where cognitive-behavioural programmes had the largest effect on recidivism, compared to academic, vocational, and purely behavioural programmes. Thirdly, the most effective programmes have family involvement (e.g., multisytemic therapy; Henggeler, Schoenwald, Borduin, Rowland, & Cunningham, 2009). This principle may be difficult to integrate into treatment programmes with incarcerated youth. However, Hoge et al. (2008) insist that any family involvement is a better option than none at all. Lastly, comprehensive programmes which focus on multiple risk factors (e.g., Multisystemic Therapy) are better than single-component programmes (e.g., anger management).

Treatment modality

The modality of a treatment refers to the manner in which it is delivered. Within YPO programmes, there are three commonly used modes: individual, group, and family therapy.

Group treatment remains the most widely utilised treatment modality with YPO's (Hoogsteder et al., 2015). Although group interventions use less resources (e.g., time, staffing), they may not always be the most effective. This is particularly the case with young people who are too anxious to engage and disclose information in a group setting, or those that may be slower at processing information compared to others in a group. Furthermore, in some cases aggressive behaviour may increase within group settings through 'peer contagion' (Day & Casey, 2012) or 'deviancy training' (Dodge, Dishion, & Lansford, 2006). However, group therapies may serve to facilitate aspects of treatment (e.g., social problem solving).

Individual therapy serves to overcome several of these group therapy issues. However, treating all individuals through one-on-one therapy is operationally difficult given the amount of resources it requires. Often in YPO programmes, a combination of both is used (Stams & van der Helm, 2017). In a meta-analysis of six studies, it was concluded that although group therapy is effective on its own, under the right conditions, effect sizes were larger when they included an individual component (Hoogsteder et al., 2015).

Family involvement in therapy has been described as a 'critical component' of YPO treatment (Hoge et al., 2008). Given the influence of the family system in developing and maintaining offending behaviour, it is no surprise that family involvement in therapy is effective in decreasing offending behaviour. Although family therapy is difficult in a secure setting, home visits have been shown to reduce treatment dropout (Sunseri, 2001), and facilitate a successful return to the community (Huefner, Pick, Smith, Stevens, & Mason, 2015). While modalities deal with the format in which therapy is delivered, the treatment method refers to the specific techniques used by therapists to evoke change.

Treatment method

Research suggests cognitive-behavioural programmes, which focus on cognitive self-control, anger management, social perspective taking, moral reasoning, social problem solving, and attitude change, are the most effective with YPO (Baglivio & Jackowski, 2015; Lipsey, 2009; Mathys, 2017). These results are not surprising given the most promising theories of offending in adolescents have a cognitive-behavioural focus.

However, cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is not without shortcomings. In a recent meta-analysis, the results of 12 studies, including five randomised controlled trials (RCT's), which evaluated the implementation of various cognitive behavioural techniques with YPO in residential treatment were analysed (Armelius & Andreassen, 2007). At the 12-month follow-up, recidivism rates were less in the CBT groups than the control groups. However, recidivism rates were not significantly different at the six or 24-month follow-up periods. The authors note the significant effect for CBT may be present at all follow-up periods, however, there is not enough statistical power for this to show up. It was concluded that although CBT was found to be effective in some cases, these results mean it is "impossible to discern any particular promising individual intervention within the broad concept of CBT" (p. 19). Put simply, as CBT is comprised of so many techniques, it is difficult to identify which specific components are most effective.

Recently, third wave cognitive-behavioural techniques have been introduced into the treatment of YPOV's. These include Aggression Replacement Training (ART; Goldstein, Glick, & Gibbs, 1998; Hollin, 2004), and Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (Berzins & Trestman, 2004; Livesley, 2012). These techniques have been developed in an attempt to elicit change for specific

areas of need (e.g., self-regulation), rather than focusing generally on adaptive thinking patterns, emotion, and behaviour (Hayes & Hofmann, 2017).

Treatment implementation

There are cases where treatment methods appear promising but fail to achieve meaningful results in real-world contexts. This may not be a problem with the treatment method itself, but rather the implementation of the method. It is important to distinguish between *efficacy* and *effectiveness*. In efficacy studies "treatment effects are evaluated under ideal conditions, with motivated subjects, and well-trained therapists who perform the intervention as intended, with high levels of program integrity" (Stams & van der Helm, 2017, p. 2). Effectiveness studies, however, evaluate the effect size of treatments in real-world conditions, where the above characteristics are often not present.

Programme integrity is the degree to which an intervention is delivered in the way it is intended (Goense, Assink, Stams, Boendermaker, & Hoeve, 2016). Although high levels of integrity have been commonly seen as a positive characteristic of a programme, Barber et al. (2006) argues integrity which is too high may reflect a lack of flexibility on behalf of the therapist in responding to their client's needs. However, low programme integrity is often seen as the inability to appropriately translate a therapeutic model into practice. In a meta-analysis containing 17 studies of evidence-based interventions for YPO, high levels of integrity were associated with medium to high effect sizes, while those with low integrity showed low effect sizes (Goense et al., 2016). Therefore, the way in which treatment is delivered may be as important, or more important, as the treatment strategy itself. This highlights the need for having well-trained staff delivering treatment in an environment which supports change.

Living group climate

Recently, the research on treating YPOV has looked at how the environment can support cognitive and behavioural change within a secure residential facility. The characteristics which make-up the physical and social environment have been labelled 'living group climate' (Van Der Helm, Stams, & van der Laan, 2011). The literature suggests that young people benefit most from an environment which is open and therapeutic, which has high levels of social support from staff, a prosocial group culture amongst young people, as well as a balance between structure and autonomy (Souverein, Van der Helm, & Stams, 2013).

Research conducted in a Dutch youth correctional facility found an open living climate was strongly correlated with more active coping and greater treatment motivation. Maintaining a balance between rehabilitation and safety can increase YPO's motivation (van der Helm, Beunk, Stams, & van der Laan, 2014). As motivation is a key factor in the responsivity principle (Andrews and Bonta, 2010), it can result in improved therapeutic progress (McMurran, 2002), and outcomes for young people (Lipsey, 2009). Therefore, developing an open living group climate is one of the key challenges for secure residential facilities (van der Helm et al., 2014)

Aftercare

Although evidence-based interventions with high levels of integrity, delivered in a therapeutic environment, can produce positive changes for the YPO (Lipsey et al., 2010), the effects of these interventions often do not last once they are released into the community (Altschuler & Armstrong, 1998). The use of the aftercare interventions has been emphasised to facilitate the YPO's return to the community, and their ongoing desistance from offending. In a meta-analysis of aftercare interventions (n = 22 studies), aftercare services which had an individual focus and high levels of intensity, in contrast to duration, were most effective (James,

Stams, Asscher, De Roo, & der Laan, 2013). Furthermore, these services were most suited to YPO who had offended violently and were deemed to be a high-risk of reoffending.

This section has summarised the treatment modalities and methods commonly used with young people, the importance of how these are implemented in the real-world, how the young person's environment can facilitate therapeutic change, and the importance of supporting the young person through aftercare services. The next section will focus on the NZ YJ System which has recently attempted to apply these features with young people.

The NZ YJ System

The Oranga Tamariki Act (1989) is the principal legislation governing the YJ system in NZ. This system is unique compared to other western countries. The characteristics of the NZ YJ model include "diversion, community-based sanctions, family decision-making, and cultural flexibility" (Lynch, 2016, p. 17). According to Morris and Maxwell (1993), the NZ YJ system attempts to distance itself from the justice approach, without abandoning its need to achieve positive outcomes for YPO. For those between the ages of 14 and 17, access to the YJ system is based on a 'criminal culpability model' (Lynch, 2016); where these young people are seen as liable for their behaviour. In NZ, there are a range of options available in the YJ system, from diversion to secure residential placements.

Residential Services

There are four secure YJ residences in NZ. These are located in South Auckland,
Palmerston North, Rotorua, and Christchurch. The size of these residences varies between 30 and
46 beds (Lynch, 2012). These residences house young people on supervision with residence
order (s311), those on remand (s238 1 (d)), as well as children and young people serving a term
of imprisonment. A supervision order can last between three to six months. Once those on an

imprisonment sentence reach the age of 18, they will be transferred to an adult prison. For young people serving a sentence of imprisonment, being detained in a YJ residence allows for a safer community (rather than serving a community sentence), as well as being a more developmentally suitable environment for the young person (in contrast to adult prison).

All residences operate under a 'structured day' programme. Young people attend school in residences and are provided with a range of programmes to meet their individual needs including; vocational training, reducing re-offending, life skills, cultural identity, sporting activities, sexual health education, driver's licence theory, fitness, and cooking programmes. While in care, these young people also have access to health services.

Implications of the Literature for the Current Study

Although there is research suggesting the importance of an individualised assessment process, and cognitive-behavioural strategies, little is known about the best way to integrate them in practice. Furthermore, the majority of these studies have been carried out in North America, where the legislative, policy, and cultural context is very different. Currently, there is no proven residence-based rehabilitation programme for high-risk YPO in NZ.

The MTMO programme is a rehabilitation programme for YPO between the ages of 16 and 20 years. Although, there have been treatment programmes delivered in Young Offender Units in NZ prisons before, this is the first programme which is specifically designed to meet the needs of young people living in a secure YJ environment. The programme is run at the YJ facility, Korowai Manaaki, in South Auckland. The programme is separated into three broad phases: (1) introduction phase, which includes an assessment and preparation for new participants; (2) core programme, which includes a range of CBT and DBT techniques, all

embedded in the RNR and GLM frameworks; and (3) the transition phase, which aims to help the young people to transition from the youth unit and back into the community.

Social scientists understand the development of evidence-based intervention is the first step towards improving well-being. However, the next step and arguably the more difficult, is implementing these programmes in real-world settings, and to sustain these programmes over time (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). Furthermore, the appropriate implementation of programmes can have a significant impact on the outcome of programmes (Durlak & DuPre, 2008). By carrying out a process evaluation of the MTMO programme, insight into how the programme is running can be obtained. These insights can help identify the strengths and weaknesses of the programme, and how these may in turn be used to improve the programme.

Evaluation Objectives

The aims of this study were to: (a) describe the context, characteristics, and operation of the programme; (b) evaluate the extent to which the programme met the needs of young people, whānau members and caregivers, with reference to their views; (c) evaluate the programme components with reference to the perspectives of staff and young people, as well as the literature; (d) examine the working relationship between the programme staff, residential staff and external staff; (e) examine the programme's operations and how this may impact on the success of the programme delivery; and (f) identify possible areas of strength and improvement.

Methodology

Programme Evaluation

Programme evaluation has been defined as "... the systematic collection of information about activities, characteristics, and outcomes of programs to make judgements about the program, improve program effectiveness and/or inform decisions about future programming",

(Patton, 2008, p. 39). In New Zealand, social policy has not historically benefited from the same level of research investment which has been seen in the areas of conservation and primary production, for example (Gluckman, 2013). However, given the level of expenditure the government devotes to social programmes, evaluation is critical (Gluckman, 2013). Furthermore, due to the complex nature of humans, when implementing social programmes, it is difficult to predict their direct effects and what long-term consequences they will have. For example, in a meta-analysis of evidence-based youth psychotherapies, it was concluded that empirically supported treatments do not often perform well outside the laboratory, in clinically representative conditions (Weisz et al., 2013). The evaluation of programmes in a natural setting is therefore a critical task in understanding its effectiveness and informing decisions about improvement and future programming.

Programme evaluations have commonly been characterised and labelled by their *purpose*, and *intended audience* (Spencer, Ritchie, Lewis, & Dillion, 2003). Patton (2002) lists several programme evaluation types (e.g., outcome evaluations, process evaluations, implementation evaluation, prevention evaluation); and programme evaluation models (e.g., goal-free evaluation, responsive evaluation, utilisation-based evaluation). However, there is no single, *best* approach to evaluating a programme. When determining which evaluation type and model to use, evaluators must consider the purpose of the evaluation, what questions need answering, and what method will provide the most useful information (Patton, 2002).

Process Evaluation

The current evaluation is a process evaluation. Broadly speaking, process evaluations are concerned with what happens during programme implementation (Dehar et al., 1993). Focusing on process involves analysing *how* something happens rather than examining what the outcomes

are (Patton, 2002). Process evaluations, therefore focus on the "internal dynamics and actual operations of a programme", to better understand its strengths and weaknesses (Patton, 2008, p. 206).

Process evaluations are likely to analyse the following features of programmes: 1) the programme origins, from planning to implementation; 2) the programme structure, components and delivery system; 3) contextual factors relevant to programme operation; 4) participation of programme participants; 5) levels of community awareness; and 6) resources used for programme operation (Dehar et al., 1993).

To understand these features, the process evaluator attempts to understand and document the daily reality of the setting. Not only must the evaluator understand the formal activities and anticipated outcomes, but they must also understand the informal activities and related outcomes of the programme (Patton, 2008). Process evaluations often include the perceptions of various stakeholders to support these observations. In the current study, the perceptions of staff, whānau, and the young people were collected through interviews. These various perspectives provide unique insight into how the programme is experienced by different individuals (Patton, 2008).

Process evaluations are useful in providing feedback for the improvement of the programme, as well as the future distribution of the programme if it is found to be effective (Dehar et al., 1993; Patton, 2002). In the current study, feedback about how well certain treatment components were operating, or how well they fitted together, for example, can be used to improve these components and processes. Furthermore, if the programme or aspects of the programme are considered worthy of replicating in other sites (i.e., other youth justice residences), then process evaluations can provide critical information for this.

Evaluation Model

Evaluation models provide the framework which structure and support the evaluation process. These models structure methodological decisions, provide directions for managing stakeholders, and identify important issues to consider (Patton, 2002). There are many types of evaluation models, including; goal-free evaluations, illuminative evaluations, and utilisation-focused evaluations. Each of these provide their own unique structure to an evaluation. This study employed a utilisation-focused evaluation model. Utilisation-focused evaluation are "done for and with specific intended primary users for specific, intended uses" (Patton, 2010, p. 37). A utilisation-focused evaluation offers a framework for deciding on the methods, focus, and contents of an evaluation (Patton, 2002). Specifically, these decisions are made by the intended users of the evaluation, who are the *skateholders*. These are people who have a vested interest in the evaluation. In social services these are often programme staff, social workers, social work clients, collaborating organisations, and government officials (Patton, 2010). Therefore, to decide on the methods, focus, and contents of an evaluation, one must consult with the key stakeholders.

Patton (2010) outlines five steps in a utilisation-focused evaluation process. Firstly, the evaluator needs to identify the intended users of the evaluation. These key stakeholders work with the evaluator in making key decisions about the evaluation. Secondly, the evaluator and intended users decide on the focus of the evaluation (e.g., formative, summative, knowledge-generating). The current evaluation was a formative evaluation, as it had a focus on improvement which directed the content of the evaluation towards asking about strengths and weaknesses of the programme. The third stage requires the evaluator and intended users to make methods, measurement, and design decisions. There are many decisions, including (a) whether it will be qualitative, quantitative, or mixed data; (b) whether it will be naturalistic or experimental; (c) the

level of emphasis given to generalisations; and (d) ways to overcome threats to reliability, validity, and utility. The fourth stage occurs after the data has been collected. The intended users work with the evaluator to decide how best to interpret the findings, make judgements, and give recommendations. Finally, the report is disseminated to the intended users to make decisions, and to a wider system for public accountability.

Cultural Consultation

When conducting an evaluation of a programme involving Māori Tikanga, and Māori participants, there are a number of challenges Pākehā face in developing competency as an evaluator. Evaluators must consider, for example; what evaluations should Pākehā practitioners be involved in and what roles should they play; what weighting should evaluators give to cultural competency when compared with other evaluator competencies; to what extent does the evaluator's cultural competency impact on the quality and robustness of the evaluation; how to evaluators go about developing cultural competency; and who do evaluators turn to for guidance on these issues? (Torrie, Dalgety, Peace, Roorda, & Bailey, 2015).

As Glynn et al. (1992) suggest, research intended for the betterment of Māori requires engagement with Māori researchers to share research skills and technologies. Therefore, cultural consultation occurred with Dr. Tia Neha, lecturer in Māori and Indigenous Developmental Psychology, and Parris Pidduck, Kaiāwhina, both with the School of Psychology at Victoria University of Wellington.

These consultations revealed important factors related to the appropriate processes used when interviewing Māori participants. Firstly, interviewers were advised to take time at the start to introduce themselves, the research, and the purpose of it. By building strong rapport with participants, interviewers were following the principal of whānaungatanga, which refers to the

building and maintenance of relationships. Secondly, interviewers acknowledged the importance of whānau and whakapapa; both in understanding the young person's identity, and through engaging whānau in the evaluation process. Thirdly, interviewers followed the principal of wanaakitanga by providing koha for participants; allowing time at the end of the interview to explain the next steps in the research process and addressing any questions participants had about the research. By doing so, knowledge can flow reciprocally between participants and the researcher. Overall, it was the aim of the researcher to be aware of kia tūpato, by being cautious of insider and outsider status, and how this may impact on research questions, and the interview style.

Qualitative Methodology

Qualitative methodologies are considered the most appropriate form of analysis when conducting a process evaluation (Patton, 2002). This type of analysis provides an in-depth understanding of the programme's dynamics and processes. There are many types of qualitative methods, for example: grounded theory, discourse analysis, and interpretive phenomenological analysis. Although the different types of qualitative analysis have many similarities, they all have distinct features based on the types of analyses used and assumptions made, and therefore are suited to different types of research. Thematic analysis is the most appropriate method for this evaluation due to: (a) the level of flexibility needed to analyse different types of data (e.g., programme manuals, interviews) and research questions; (b) its procedures are easily accessible in comparison to other types of qualitative analysis; and (c) thematic analysis does not require any technical knowledge of language as seen in conversation and discourse analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Thematic analysis

The main benefit of using thematic analysis versus other types of qualitative analysis is its flexibility. More specifically, although thematic analysis follows a general set of steps, there is no strict recipe for guiding an analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This is important in a process evaluation, as there will be many parts of the programme to analyse, and diverse groups of participants to interview.

When conducting a thematic analysis, there are several decisions which must first be made and stated explicitly (i.e., inductive vs. theoretical analysis, semantic vs. latent themes, essentialist vs. constructionist view; Braun & Clarke, 2006). Firstly, this research was inductive in its approach to analysis. Analysis involved a bottom-up data-driven approach, where themes were concluded based on the data, and not on any pre-existing theoretical interests. Secondly, the themes generated were semantic in nature. Themes followed a progression from a description, which were based on a pattern within the data, and conclusions which were drawn based on their broader meanings and implications (Patton, 1990). Lastly, the research took an essentialist view of the data. This enabled motivations, experience, and meaning to be concluded based on the experience and language of the participants used (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The application of thematic analysis followed the six-step approach outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006), and will be explained in the section *data analysis*.

Method

Participants

Interviews with those involved in the programme (n = 14) provided the primary source of information for the evaluation. The five stakeholder groups comprised of adolescents who took

part in the programme (n = 5), caregivers (n = 3), facilitators (n = 4), unit staff (n = 1), and site social workers (n = 3).

Adolescents

As shown in Table 1, there is considerable skew in the ethnicity of the adolescent participants, with all five participants identifying as Māori. Researchers were constrained by the limited number of adolescents who took part in the MTMO programme, as well as the difficulty of contacting these participants. Furthermore, the majority of participants who took part in the MTMO programme were Māori – consistent with 74% of those living in youth justice residences identifying as Māori in the 2017 financial year (MSD, 2017).

The programme was developed for young people between the ages of 16 and 20 years. However, given the nature of YJ residences, all adolescents were between the ages of 16 and 18. Each individual participated in the programme for a maximum of 14 weeks (42 group sessions). However, given the nature of the young peoples' orders and sentencing, this length was largely reserved for those young people on Correction's sentences as they were in the residence for a longer duration. The OT youth, who were there as part of their Supervision with Residence Order (S311, OT Act, 1989), were often in the residences for shorter periods, and therefore some only took part in a portion of the programme.

Caregivers

Two caregivers involved in the study identified as female, and one as male. Two of these participants identified as Māori, and one identified as a New Zealander. Two of the caregivers identified as the parent of a young person, and the other caregiver identified as a foster parent.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of adolescent participants

| Characteristic | n |
|-------------------------|---|
| Male | 5 |
| Female | - |
| Māori | 5 |
| Pasifika | - |
| Pākehā | - |
| 16-years-old | 1 |
| 17-years-old | 3 |
| 18-years-old | 1 |
| 1-2 months on programme | 2 |
| 2-4 months on programme | 3 |
| Corrections Youth | 3 |
| Oranga Tamariki Youth | 2 |

Professionals

The professional group was made up of three different groups: facilitators (n = 4), who delivered the programme; site social workers (n = 2), who supported the young people in the community; and unit staff (n = 1), who supervised the day-to-day activities in the residence. Of the seven professionals, two were male and five were female.

Of the four facilitators, three were female and one was male. Each facilitator differed in the length of time delivering the programme, while two facilitators delivered for more than six months, one facilitator only delivered a few sessions. However, this individual's role in the residence as a clinical team leader coupled with related work experience meant their participation was valuable.

Interview Schedule Development

A literature review was undertaken regarding theories, assessment, and treatment of adolescent violent offending. This literature review, which is presented in the introduction, highlighted key processes and factors in the assessment and treatment of this group. This literature review formed the primary basis for the development of the interview schedules. The schedule used for adolescent interviews was also based on the assessment of young people previously undertaken by the Department of Corrections following their graduation from the MTMO programme. Many of these open-ended questions were incorporated into the interview schedules for the adolescents.

Interview schedules for each group followed a similar format with four to six sections which corresponded with the key areas of enquiry. Each section contained questions about the specific factors necessary to describe the process (e.g., "What sorts of things did they ask you about in your first interviews?"); as well as broader questions exploring the strengths, weaknesses, and suggestions for improvement (e.g., "What would have made it easier for you?"). Table 2 shows the respective areas of enquiry for each group of participants.

The content of the interview schedule was updated once data collection began. Initial transcripts were analysed to determine whether the content of the research should be expanded, contracted, or refined (Guest, MacQueen, & Namey, 2011). For example, if specific issues in the treatment's delivery arose in an interview, but was not included in the original interview schedule, this would be integrated into the interview schedule and used in future interviews.

Table 2. The focus of enquiry for each group of participants

| Areas of Enquiry | Adolescents | Caregivers | Social | Unit | Facilitators |
|-------------------|--------------|------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| | | | Workers | Staff | |
| Residence | ✓ | | | ✓ | ✓ |
| environment | | | | | |
| Knowledge of | | ✓ | \checkmark | \checkmark | |
| the programme | | | | | |
| Referral process | ✓ | ✓ | ✓ | | ✓ |
| Assessment | ✓ | ✓ | ✓ | | ✓ |
| process | | | | | |
| Treatment | \checkmark | ✓ | ✓ | \checkmark | ✓ |
| programme | | | | | |
| Cultural services | \checkmark | | | | ✓ |
| Staff services | | | | \checkmark | ✓ |
| Improvements | ✓ | ✓ | ✓ | ✓ | ✓ |
| and Outcome | | | | | |

Procedures

The study was approved by the Oranga Tamariki-Ministry for Children Research Access Committee, and ethical approval was given by the School of Psychology Human Ethics Committee under the delegation of the Victoria University of Wellington Human Ethics Committee. The confidentiality of each individual was maintained by only referring to their group membership (i.e., young person), instead of their names in transcripts. However, as there were a small number staff involved in the study, they were all given a chance to review (withdraw and or/change) quotes included in the report prior to publication as confidentiality could not be assured. In carrying out the research, several approaches were used; each of these will be outlined below.

Programme Documentation

The Mauri Tu Mauri Ora programme manager was approached and asked to provide a copy of the programme manual, session guides, and assessment protocols. However, given the programmes youthful nature, only session guides were available for analysis. These documents provided information about each sessions' rationale, objectives, materials, and procedures.

Interviews

Following a discussion with the programme manager, it was decided they would approach staff working in the residence, while the researcher would approach social workers, whānau, and youth. As the programme was not running at the time of the evaluation, all graduates of the programme were either in the community or in prison. The contact details of relevant social workers were obtained from the programme manager. The contact details of the whānau and young people were obtained from social workers once permission had been given. Potential participants were given a brief outline of the study and its aims, and if they were interested in proceeding, they were given copies of the information and consent forms.

All interviews were conducted by one researcher. The majority of interviews were conducted in person. For programme staff, these were conducted at the residence. For young people in prison; interviews were conducted at the prison. Due to logistical issues; interviews with whānau, social workers, and young people in the community were conducted over the phone as the participants were from all over the country.

The length of the interviews ranged from 30 minutes to an hour and a half. At the start of each interview, interviewees were given a second copy of the information and consent form, given verbal information about the study, and the limitations of confidentiality were discussed appropriately. For all face-to-face interviews, written consent was obtained to take part in the

study and for the interview to be recorded. For those over the phone, verbal consent was obtained and recorded after the researcher stated and explained each statement of consent.

Interviews with Māori participants, particularly the young people, started with a longer rapport building period so the necessary connection and level of comfort was achieved. A karakia was offered to each of these participants, and if requested, was used to commence and conclude each interview. At the end of the interview, the interviewer explained the next steps of the research, and addressed any questions the participants had about the research.

Each participant was interviewed according to the interview schedule. However, as the interviews were intended to be semi-structured, additional questions were asked to follow up points raised and acquire richer data. Summaries were often given throughout interviews so participants could verify or correct interpretations of their statements.

In order to thank participants for their time and effort, young people in the community were given movie vouchers, and whānau were given supermarket vouchers. Koha was used as a gesture of gratitude. Following the workplace policies of both the Department of Corrections, and OT, no koha was given to staff. Participating young people in prison did not receive koha as it was not allowed in the prison.

Data Analysis

All data were analysed using the process of thematic analysis. Although thematic analysis has been previously described, this section will discuss how it was applied in both interviews and programme documentation.

Interviews

All interviews were listened to and transcribed in full; removing only the interviewer's minimal encouragers to reduce unnecessary detail. As in the first step of thematic analysis, this

transcription process provided an opportunity to become familiar with the data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). During transcription, initial thoughts and ideas were noted in the margins. The purpose of doing so was to start thinking about emerging patterns within the data, as well as how the interview questions could be improved for later interviews. The accuracy of these transcripts were maintained by checking them against the audio recordings once each interview had been transcribed. Identifying information was edited, removed, or changed during transcription process in order to protect the confidentiality of participants.

After the interviews were transcribed, the initial ideas generated through this process were used to develop preliminary codes in NVivo. This process reflects the second step of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Consistent with Boyatzis (1998) definition, these codes reflected a basic segment of raw data used as evidence of a phenomenon. NVivo was used to highlight and categorise segments of data into one or more codes. As the coding was data-driven, emerging patterns within the data were used to develop new codes as the analysis proceeded. The context in which individuals speak is vital to the meaning they are creating (Gibson & Brown, 2009). Therefore, segmentation is an important decision made in the coding process. Using NVivo's built-in segmentation tool, the data was coded using a consistent broad context (surrounding paragraph) to maintain the participants' meaning. The end result was 42 codes which contained one or more data extracts.

Consistent with the third step of thematic analysis, the codes were analysed and sorted into potential themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This process involved not only reviewing the codes, but also the literature to understand how to best categorise and combine different codes into themes. As suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006), mind maps were used by placing a potential theme in the centre, and using relevant codes on the exterior to show potential

subthemes, and how they are related. Based on these mind-maps, the themes and sub-themes were entered into NVivo, with their accompanying data extracts.

Consistent with the aims of the study, the overarching themes represented the different elements of the programme (e.g., the assessment process). This resulted in seven overarching themes, and 28 sub-themes. These themes were then evaluated in two ways which reflects the fourth step of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Firstly, these themes were reviewed against the coded data, and compared with a second coder's coded data. Coders then discussed and agreed on the selected themes and related extracts. Secondly, the whole data set was reviewed through rereading to make sure the themes formed a coherent picture of the data. During this rereading stage, important data which was originally missed was coded and included in the themes' data extracts.

The themes were then defined and reported alongside a coherent narrative, which reflects the fifth and sixth step in thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Each theme was unpacked to make sure the different elements of each were described alongside the relevant extracts. Where possible, a review of relevant literature was included to discuss where the theme fitted within the current research, and suggestions of workable solutions for any issues within the MTMO programme.

Programme Documentation

The only programme documentation available to researchers was the session guides. As a result, there was little information to analyse. However, the analysis followed a similar process to that of the interviews. Where themes developed from participant perspectives were supported by those found in the programme documentation (e.g., appropriateness of treatment strategies), these were included as evidence.

Programme Descriptions

Before summarising the views of participants and the related literature, a description of the programme will be given. This description will be based on information obtained from; agency websites, session guides (as a full programme manual was not available for review), and personal communication with programme staff.

Overview of the MTMO Programme

The MTMO programme offered treatment for up to 14 weeks. However, the programme duration varied depending on the court order or sentence the young person received. For example, those on a Residence with Supervision order (Oranga Tamariki Act, s311) can be in a residence for a maximum of six months, whereas those sentenced in the adult court system, and therefore were under the supervision of the Department of Corrections, may be in a residence for several years until they reach the age of 17 years. Based on risk assessments completed in the residence, all adolescents were deemed to be medium to high-risk, with their index offence being violent or non-sexual in nature.

The programme catered to male adolescents between the ages of 16-20, however as it was run in a youth justice residence, the maximum age of those in the programme was 17 years (Kilgour & Borg, 2016). The programme was offered to those who did not have a significant intellectual disability, and had the ability to work well within a group setting. The programme incorporated Māori and Pasifika cultural approaches to well-being. The modality of the treatment was both individual and group work.

The programme was labelled as having an open or "rolling group" format as young people would join the programme at different times, however, in the practice it operated more like a closed-group as all young people were working on the same modules at the same time.

When young people joined the programme, they began an induction or "starter" group which ideally had one to two other young people who were starting the programme at the same time. However, in practice this was not always the case. Again, there were supposed to be eight starter sessions, but in practice this was reduced to one or two. In the starter sessions, the young people learnt about disclosure of information within a group, the importance of communication in a group setting and safety in the therapy room. They were also introduced to the different core modules and discussed how they felt about working in a group. The young people then joined the "core programme" group which contained a maximum of eight people at a time. At this stage, the sessions focused on: group building, aggression control, violence prevention, safety and wellbeing, problem-solving, relationships, and substance use. The final "transition phase" was designed to facilitate their transition into the community or prison.

Three group sessions occurred a week, with each session being 90 minutes, often with a break at the half-way point where facilitators would lead a physical exercise. Individual sessions lasted for an hour and were run once a week by facilitators or case leaders. Individual sessions were used to reinforce changes made in group sessions and to discuss the young person's offending behaviour in more depth. However, not all young people received individual sessions as they were targeted at the highest-risk youth in the programme.

Programme Goals

The one formalised goal of the programme was to reduce reoffending. However, as one facilitator said, there were 'spin-off' goals. These goals were summarised by some facilitators:

The ultimate goal was reducing reoffending. The second goal would be for the youth to have a positive experience in the therapeutic environment. The third is for early intervention of Corrections clients, so avoiding those Korowai Manaaki ending up here [In Department of Corrections custody]. Fourthly, for there to be that transparency with Korowai Manaaki and Corrections, and for us to be working more consistently together.

You should see a reduction in incidence, a reduction in secure admissions, a reduction in fights, all of those sorts of things.

Looking at and utilising the good lives, it was really aimed at setting them up and being able to move back into the community in a more prosocial manner and engage in the community prosocially.

Yeah, to basically bring their strengths out a lot more.

Referral Procedures

Referrals were made through two separate processes, depending on whether the young person was on a sentence managed by the Department of Corrections or a Youth Court order overseen by Oranga Tamariki. For those on a Correction's sentence, young people in the residence were referred based on their Risk of Reconviction by the Rate of Imprisonment (ROC*ROI) scores (a static risk assessment tool used by the Department of Corrections). For those on Youth Court orders (s311), referrals were made by Case Leaders once the young people entered the residence, and were often based on their YLS/CMI score – see below for further details. However, in other cases, facilitators who also worked in the residence, referred young people who they believed to be good candidates for the programme.

Assessment Processes

Before entering the programme, assessments were completed to identify the young person's level of risk as well as their criminogenic needs. These assessments were based on self-report information from the young person; a review of their files on the OT database; and in some cases, whānau were consulted. One facilitator also said they found "unit staff as well were really useful to talk to… great sources of information for day-to-day behaviour". Assessments for those on Corrections' sentences were completed by a Psychologist employed by the

Department of Corrections, while those on Youth Court orders were completed by a Psychologist employed by OT. No mid or post-programme assessments were completed.

Assessment Tools

To assess level of risk, the psychologists used evidence-based assessment tools and structured judgement. The risk and need assessment tools used were the Youth Level of Service: Case Management Inventory 2.0 (YLS:CMI 2.0; Hoge & Andrews, 2011), and the Structured Assessment of Violence Risk in Youth (SAVRY; Vincent, Perrault, Guy, & Gershenson, 2012). Both tools include primary dynamic risk items, but also include some static items. Both tools have shown good interrater reliability, strong internal consistency, and significant predictive power for both general and violent offending (Hilterman, Nicholls, & van Nieuwenhuizen, 2014). In some cases, the Million Adolescent Clinical Inventory (MACI; Millon & Davis, 1993) and the Structured Assessment of Protective Factors for violent risk: Youth Version (SAPROF: YV; de Vries Robbé, Geers, Stapel, Hilterman, & de Vogel, 2015) were used, however, these were not always possible due to the time it took to complete the assessments and the lack of staff qualified to administer these tools. Furthermore, once the Department of Corrections exited the programme, there was not sufficient resources to purchase these tools. As previously mentioned, ROC*ROI scores were also used as a static risk assessment tool of young people under a Corrections sentence.

Therapeutic Approaches

MTMO sits within both the RNR (Andrews & Bonta, 2010) and GLM rehabilitation frameworks (Ward & Stewart, 2003). The therapeutic approaches used in the MTMO programme were similar to those used in other adolescent treatment programmes. These included: Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (which included Aggression Replacement Training; Goldstein et al., 1998),

Narrative Identity Therapy; The Life Compass (Eifert & Forsyth, 2005); Relapse Prevention; problem-solving skills building; Dialectical Behavioural Therapy (DBT; Berzins & Trestman, 2004); Mindfulness (as adapted by Linehan, 1993); and Cognitive-Self Change.

Māori Health Models

Although there are no evidence-based Māori models of practice within the treatment of violent offending amongst adolescents, the MTMO programme incorporated two cultural frameworks; the Te Whare Tapa Whā (Durie, 1994) and tuakena teina models (Reilly, 2010).

Te Whare Tapa Whā

Te Whare Tapa Whā (four cornerstones of health), is a holistic theory of health developed by a group of Māori health workers in 1982, and described by Durie (1994). The model describes four domains of health depicted as a whare (house). The four walls of the whare are:

- 1. Taha tinana: the physical aspects of health (e.g., level of fitness)
- 2. Taha hinengaro: the emotional and psychological aspects of health (e.g., mood)
- 3. Taha wairua: the spiritual and cultural aspects of health (e.g., cultural identity)
- 4. Taha whānau: the social aspects of health (e.g., family factors)

The Te Whare Tapa Whā reflects the Māori worldview of a balanced universe (Rochford, 2004). The model suggests similarly to a whare, for an individual to be in good health all domains of well-being must be attended to. Furthermore, the model suggests if an intervention undermines one of these domains, its effectiveness is reduced. The following descriptions were given by facilitators to explain how the Te Whare Tapa Whā was used in practice:

To understand need. Where they had areas that needed to be looked at or addressed, to understand goals. What are your goals in those areas? So, weaving it through a lot of things we did. If the young person was saying I've got a problem with my anger, well how does it affect you in each of those four areas?

Te Whare Tapa whā works well in getting them thinking about, how are things going emotionally, spiritually etc which is very useful in check-in's.

Tuakana-teina

The Tuakana-Teina model was a residence-wide strategy which attempted to engage and support young people through a buddy-system, and model of leadership. As one facilitator said:

It was about the leadership of the ones that have been there long enough to try and mentor and support the new ones that are coming through.

Pasifika Health Models

Fono'fale model

The Fono-fale model of health incorporates values and beliefs consistent across Pacific Island nations. Similar to Te Whare Tapa Whā, the model promotes a holistic view of health, where all aspects included in the model share an interactive relationship. The model incorporates the metaphor of a Samoan house, with the floor, posts, and roof; each necessary parts of the home. This was applied in a similar way to the Te Whare Tapa Whā, as stated by one facilitator:

It's basically the same as the Te Whare Tapa $Wh\bar{a}...$ the island boys used that, and the other boys used that Whare.

To summarise this chapter, MTMO aims to reduce reoffending, however, it also intended to reduce incidents in the residence and develop the strengths of young people. The programme has an evidence-based assessment process, which features several assessment tools to measure risk and identity criminogenic needs. The programme uses a suite of therapeutic approaches, underpinned by the principles of RNR, which are delivered in an individual and group format. The programme also caters to the needs of Pasifika and Māori through three cultural frameworks. While this chapter describes the programmes content, the next chapter will discuss the stakeholders' views of the programme implementation, what strengths it had and what requires improvement.

Participant Perspectives of Programme Implementation and Discussion

The thematic analysis on programme implementation yielded several themes which will be summarised below. Each theme will include several quotes, alongside an analytic narrative to describe and discuss the various perspectives. Participants' responses were organised into the following categories: (a) programme manual and resources; (b) programme structure; (c) initial engagement and assessment; (d) treatment delivery and engagement; (e) the transition phase; (f) the unit environment and its impact on therapy; and (g) staff services.

Programme Manual and Resources

Facilitators and young people were asked about their thoughts on how the session guides were implemented and the related resources that were used in the programme. Specifically, facilitators were asked about how well the session guides met their needs, what resources were available to support therapeutic sessions, and how these things could be improved. Four subthemes emerged from within this theme: (a) a developmentally-appropriate programme manual; (b) mixed views on manual flexibility; (c) prepared material; (d) an appropriate therapeutic space.

Developmentally-appropriate session guides

There are many different types of manuals used in rehabilitation programmes (e.g., management manuals, research manuals). Of interest in this section is the programme manual, which "details each programme session and links the targets for change to the model of change presented in theory manual" (Hollin, 2006, p. 14). A manual is often the vehicle which drives delivery of rehabilitation programmes (Hollin, 2006). Therefore, a manual can have a significant impact on the success of a programme. In the MTMO programme, there was no programme manual, instead the written materials consisted solely of session guides. There was concern by

the majority of facilitators that these session guides were in some areas not developmentally appropriate for young people. Facilitators had questions relating to the programme origins:

It was supposed to be based on the HRPP [High Risk Personality Programme] programme that was run at the Paremoremo, the Auckland prison. The high-risk personality programme. So, it was, you know, my understanding from [developer] was that that was what they were basing it on.

A specific concern related to the language used in the programme manual. Three different facilitators commented on this:

One thing I found with the material was the language didn't meet the level of our young people. Because it was a programme that was run in the prisons, it captured more of an adult mindset. Whereas these kids were nowhere near that level. So, the biggest trouble for me was trying to figure out ways to kind of bring it to a level where the young people can actually see what we are trying to deliver, and what the message that we are trying to put to them.

So, we tried to tailor it very much to their developmental level.

I think at times the manual was very high-level with its vocabulary or the ways that it was described.

The cognitive ability of YPO compared to an adult population are significantly lower (Frize, Kenny, & Lennings, 2008). Furthermore, their verbal intelligence, which is of particular importance in treatment programmes, is significantly lower than comparison samples (Snow & Powell, 2008). The implication of these findings are that the programme manual needs to reflect this population's developmental and cognitive levels. Otherwise facilitators may have to adapt language in the manual before or during the session to suit young people. However, this takes great skill on behalf of the facilitator, not to mention the risk of decreasing programme integrity if inconsistently (Goense et al., 2016).

The second issue related to the programme manual was the theories used to underpin the sessions. Although there were no facilitators who mentioned this in the interviews, the

programme manual included reference to violence-related implicit theories (Polaschek et al., 2009). Implicit theories are "used by individuals to explain and understand aspects of their social environment, and, therefore, to make predictions about future events" (Ward, 2000, p. 495). Although this theory has proven to be fruitful in the rehabilitation of adults with violent offending histories, the sample used to establish these findings had a minimum age of 17 years. Whereas those in the MTMO programme had a maximum age of 17. These implicit theories are said to develop during childhood, however, they may be changed gradually if there is sufficient evidence. Therefore, adults may hold different implicit beliefs given their different interpersonal and environmental experiences. However one facilitator stated that the theory behind the programme was developmentally appropriate for both assessment and intervention:

Having a developmentally focused theory behind the programme also helped understand the youth, their behaviour, and what strategies would work best for them given their age?

For a programme manual to operate effectively, it must be underpinned by a sound theory manual (Hollin, 2006). Therefore, attention must be given to the developmental appropriateness of the theories which are included in the manual.

The third issue related to the manual was the way in which the group sessions were supposed to operate. Two facilitators reflected on this:

The main issues that I had with it was an expectation that the young people would be able to process a lot of stuff within group, particularly from a conflict theory perspective so that if there were issues between them they would be able to process those within a group.

My understanding was that this was, and I could be wrong, intended to be a process group, which I found quite fascinating given the cohort.

To explain the second quote, the facilitator is referring to a process group where the group will meet and discuss related experiences on a given topic. This contrasts with a skills-based group where individuals practice new skills (e.g., social skills) within a group setting.

There has been concern in the literature about young peoples' ability to reason autobiographically (i.e., reflecting on one's personal past to make explicit connections between the past and oneself (Habermas & Bluck, 2000). For people with offending histories working in process groups, they require this ability to link their past experiences to their offending behaviour. This commonly occurs during exercises called 'offence chains', where individuals link the characteristics of various events leading up to an offence. However, it has been argued that: (a) early adolescent development of autobiographical reasoning may be associated with lower well-being (McLean & Mansfield, 2011); (b) adolescents require a greater deal of scaffolding to facilitate their emotional regulation skills and reframing of past events (Fivush, Marin, Crawford, Reynolds, & Brewin, 2007); (c) the sharing of stories may not be appropriate in a group setting as it makes people feel uncomfortable (Thorne & McLean, 2003). Therefore, greater care is needed when using autobiographical reasoning with young people; the level of scaffolding required may mean these exercises are only suitable for individual sessions.

Mixed views on manual flexibility

A manual-based programme often includes the sequencing of sessions, the aims and objectives of each session, the content of each sessions, and the methods of delivery within each session (Hollin, 2006). However, there is varying levels of flexibility for which the facilitators can work within. Amongst the facilitators there were mixed views on whether the programme manual was flexible enough or overly-manualised. One facilitator stated the programme was sufficiently flexible:

It is designed to be a flexible programme. So, you just pick up the session, if it's got a few pointers and objectives, and then you run it however you want from there... as long as you utilise what is going on for the youth and then link the sessions into that, then it does. As opposed to being like, this is what we are going to do today. Even if you did that, I think it would still work. But when you're using the youth, what's going on for the youth,

and then tying the youth into that, it does seem to flow much more... I would probably say the flexibility and aim of the programme to be dynamic, and practical.

The main benefits of a flexible programmes align well with the weaknesses of manualised programmes. These weaknesses are: (a) a negation of theoretical principles (e.g., treating groups of individuals based on similar offence histories, rather than their needs); (b) the lack of individual case formulation; and (c) the removal of clinical artistry (i.e., tailoring treatment to meet the needs of each individual; Wilson, 1996). One facilitator stated the programme was overly manualised:

Manualised, like so then you do this and this and this. A, B, and C, and then you ask the young person to reflect back and then you go talk about...I felt like it was manualised...The need there which is about facilitators probably not having much experience as a facilitator and that's needed. But for me coming into the field you should have already have that foundation, knowledge, and skills before you even deliver a programme.

As stated by this facilitator, one of the benefits of having a manualised programme is that it can be a useful resource for non-experienced staff, and may act as a tool for their training (Hollin, 2006). Not only this, a manualised approach also helps in maintaining treatment integrity, and can facilitate the evaluation of the programmes (Hollin, 2006). However, overmanualised programmes can result in a lack of flexibility for therapists in meeting the needs of their clients (Barber et al., 2006).

Clearly there requires negotiation between a flexible and manualised approach. However, the benefits of each depend on the programme itself, and the staff who are delivering it. Within the context of the MTMO programme, some staff lacked experience and training in delivering offending-based rehabilitation programmes for young people (as will be discussed in the subtheme, *improve facilitator training*). In this situation, a level of structure is necessary for facilitators to deliver an effective programme (Hollin, 2006). However, as expertise or

experience amongst facilitators increases the need for a manualised approach may shift, however treatment integrity should always be maintained.

Prepared material

Often a programme manual will have supplementary material available for programme facilitators who need to have background knowledge on the theories and therapeutic techniques (e.g., a research manual). Facilitators in the MTMO programme stated the relevant material required to deliver the programme was not available in a structured format. This is explained by three different facilitators below:

As I said there were bits that caught me out. The bits where we were talking about anger issues, it said you had to refer to particular a book, I had to go out and buy the book. There wasn't a lot of lead in time to be able to say well these are all the resources that I need for this session.

Like I said, I asked, "Where's the content?" Like for previous programmes I've run, "here you go, here's the work book, and here's the facilitator's guide", and you'd study it and have supervision around it and then as you run the programme you'd tailor it. There was nothing.

This one here [points out a referenced resource from the programme manual], I didn't actually have the book for that, so just things like that.

In an effort to identify the features of a good treatment manual, an international survey of rehabilitation programme trainers was conducted (McCulloch & McMurran, 2007). Of the 32 experts who were interviewed, there was a general consensus that it was essential for a treatment manual to be accompanied by a theory manual, and if the materials were not available, there was a well organised materials manual included. Without appropriately resourcing the programme before it begins, there is a risk of facilitators delivering the programme without the required integrity. However, as one facilitator states, the next time the programme runs much of the operational work would have already been resolved:

The other thing, if the programme was to run again, it would now hopefully the logistics and operational stuff would already be sorted, so I wouldn't have to do that, which would free up my time to focus on the therapeutic work.

Although these issues are commonplace amongst pilot programmes; as suggested by participants and the supported by the literature, the MTMO programme would best benefit from having the resources available to facilitators well before sessions begin.

An appropriate therapeutic space

The environmental psychology literature has provided support for the importance of designing an appropriate therapeutic setting. Factors which were important to a counselling environment include comfortable seating, carpet, natural lighting, coordinated colouring, artwork, plants, large windows, and views of nature (Pearson & Wilson, 2012). Due to logistical issues, the MTMO programme used three different rooms to deliver the group therapy. Some facilitators felt the spaces used were not appropriate. One of the rooms was too big as acknowledged by two facilitators below:

We were using the classroom, it was huge. So, when you've got a group of six to seven boys, they were rattling around like peas in a pod.

We moved into this ridiculous bigger room where it was just too big. Where the young people would like spread. One all the way over there, and one over there.

Secondly, one of the rooms used was too small:

Na, the room was way too small. It wasn't... the boys felt too cramped. It wasn't suitable at all. It wasn't an inviting therapeutic room.

It was too small. To have as many youth as we had at one time, in a small room, it didn't allow for much practical work.

Thirdly, two of the rooms used were dual-purpose. One room used was also a classroom, and the other was a room used to watch television:

Because it was a room that was dual purpose, so it was the classroom as well. So, it's like well, are we really here for group or are we here for class. We're not actually going out of our environment into somewhere to do therapy; we're just going into class where we'd normally go. So yeah, it just didn't have the same feel to it.

Although it was still small, and I think that a therapeutic space needs to be solely a therapeutic space, and it was the TV room, and I guess it just kind of contaminates that space when they use it for other things. And then other youth can spend time in there as well, and it's not a like a private safe space.

You were bringing in young people from other units into that unit. You couldn't leave all your stuff up on the wall, we only had a small space to put stuff up, whereas in the group we'd have stuff plastered all over the place. So yeah, just not having our own space.

Consistent with these critiques, the facilitators suggest a comfortable, consistent, single-purpose room which was an appropriate size to deliver therapy in would be ideal:

I would love a group room, I would love a dedicated group room that the young people can feel is theirs to go and do therapy in... It would be the appropriate size. They can decorate it. We think about the furnishings within it. But yeah, it would be a group room, a proper group room.

But somewhere where we have paintings and pictures on the wall, and like, emojis. Things that attract young people.

I think in Korowai, having had a consistent room, a therapeutic space that was large.

These comments about the size and privacy of a room is consistent with recommendations made by participants in other studies. In particular, spaces which are too small create a "claustrophobic feeling", while a room too large creates "insecurity" (Pearson & Wilson, 2012). It is preferred that a soft floored space is provided, with comfortable seating available. The MTMO programme may best benefit from adopting a room which best fits the above criteria suggested by participants and in the literature.

Programme Structure

The previous theme discussed the programme manual and resources which were used to facilitate the delivery of the programme. This next theme, programme structure, will focus on the

programme's model of operation, and will therefore exclusively discuss the rolling group structure of the programme.

Revising the rolling group structure

The MTMO programme was reported to run as a rolling group or open-group format. A rolling group means young people can join the group at any time. This is in contrast to a closed-group programme where there is the same fixed start and end date for all participants. The application and rationale for the rolling group structure is explained well by a facilitator:

The idea was that young people could join at any time and that would pick up what they missed... Yeah just because of the nature of young people being sentenced. They don't all get sentenced at the same time. It's not like the corrections environment where they are with you for a couple years. So, you can get them all started at the same point. Yeah, the turnover is much bigger.

However, there were some issues related to the application of the rolling group structure. Firstly, this structure was applied in a way where all young people were working on the same modules, at the same time as stated by a facilitator; "they would come in and they would start at the point that the group was at". This group structure is seen in closed groups, not in rolling groups. In rolling groups, at any one time, individuals may be all working on different modules (Ware & Bright, 2008).

There are several benefits to the rolling group structure. Firstly, it allows for programmes which have a greater turnover of clients (Marshall, Marshall, Serran, & Fernandez, 2006), which as mentioned by the facilitators is important in the MTMO programme where young people may only be in the residence for 2-3 months. Secondly, it allows clients who have been in the programme to model appropriate behaviour within sessions, and to provide assistance to individuals who are new to the group. Within the MTMO programme, the tuakana-teina model was a strategy used to engage and support young people through a buddy-system. This model

may be strengthened through the revision of a rolling group where senior group members can assist others through the modules. Thirdly, rolling groups promote the use of facilitator skill and flexibility in addressing the responsivity factors of each young person. Each individual has differing responsivity issues such as mood and cognitive ability which need to be attended to. Within a closed group, there is often a set of objectives for each session that must be achieved. In some cases, this results in facilitators being rigid in the delivery of the sessions, and unresponsive the needs of each individual (Ware & Bright, 2008).

Fourthly, rolling group structure facilitates the development and maintenance of group cohesion (Marshall et al., 2006; Ware & Bright, 2008). The importance of group cohesion in engaging young people in the MTMO programme will be discussed in the sub-theme *group cohesiveness*. Cohesion may be increased by senior members actively assisting new group members in their modules, as well as emphasising with their fears and reluctance to engage in the group. Scenarios such as the one described by a facilitator, "The Corrections boys were quite influential on the engagement of the other youth. So, when they were both on board and attending, and role modelling in sessions, then that increased [the others engagement]", may be strengthened by revising the structure so it is more consistent with a rolling with a rolling group.

Fifth, a rolling group structure allows for individuals to be suspended from the group without being discharged. For example, if a young person's behaviour is impacting the engagement of others they may need to be removed from the group for one or more sessions. In a rolling group, this is easy to manage as they can resume their modules once they return. However, in a closed group, this individual would re-enter the programme and begin a session without the knowledge of the sessions which have come before it. This is a particular a problem when sessions build on those which have come previously. This relates to a further issue with the

MTMO programme; individuals who enter the programme, enter the session where the group is currently working, without the knowledge of all previous sessions. This is particularly problematic when the starter phase is not comprehensive enough (as will be discussed in the subtheme, *improving the starter phase*).

Lastly, but most importantly, a rolling group allows for a more individualised therapy process. The amount of time a YPO spends in treatment is determined by their own criminogenic needs (Ware & Bright, 2008). As will be discussed, some young people in MTMO programme had sessions which were not relevant to their criminogenic needs; or due to the length of their court orders, they may be released "without having their needs addressed". In a rolling group, individuals often receive the modules which are relevant to their criminogenic needs. In this way, young people who are only in the programme for two months, for example, can still cover the modules most relevant to their needs. This also reduces over-prescription of treatment, which has been shown to be counterproductive (Marshall & Yates, 2005), and therefore an ineffective use of resources. As one facilitator says, "there might have been some repetition for some of them". Moreover, due to salience of certain criminogenic needs, or the cognitive capacity of a young person, they may require more sessions to complete a module than others. The flexibility of a rolling group allows for these individual differences.

To conclude, many of MTMO programme's issues (e.g., non-individualised therapy) may have arisen as a result of this inappropriately applied rolling group structure. However, many of the problems can be resolved by applying the rolling group structure more accurately.

Initial Engagement and assessment

Adolescents, caregivers, social workers, and facilitators were asked for their opinion on the referral and assessment process. There was a specific focus on their experiences of the

process; what they found to be helpful, unhelpful; what could have made it easier; what information about the programme was supplied to them; and how the process could have been improved. Seven sub-themes emerged within this theme: (a) provide more information about the programme; (b) a more structured approach to the referral process; (c) timely completion of assessments; (d) systems-based assessment; (e) an evidenced-based approach; (f) assessment of readiness for treatment; and (g) complete periodic assessments.

Provide more information about the programme

Initially when the MTMO programme began, an opening was held where the whānau of the young people in the programme at that time were invited to the residence, so they had some understanding of the programme. This is discussed by facilitators below:

When the programme initially started they had a launch and for the young people who were on the programme at that time, they invited the families in.

...it was like grand opening.... It was kind of like "this is what we're doing!". The hype.

We had like an opening day, and the whānau was there. And that's when I thought, yeah!

Although no whānau or young people included in the study were present at the opening, as stated in the above quotes, the facilitators saw this as a great opportunity for families to get an understanding of the programme. However, after this initial opening, there was little to no family involvement; "but next minute, that was it, that was the last time we saw whanau".

When whānau were asked what they knew about the programme, their knowledge was limited:

Look, the only thing they told me was that it is more of a support for whānau that want better for their kids. That is all I know about it.

From what he told me, correct me if I'm wrong, from the top of my head, if I remember rightly, it was to do with getting their views on how to be better, from their point of view, what can be done to help them be better while they were in there.

Furthermore, this information appeared to come from secondary sources in some cases, rather than from programme staff; "I hadn't, other than what [young person] and his social worker had advised me that was going on". Therefore, for whānau, it was important they were given information about the programme and its content, directly from programme staff: "Just actually, what was the content, was it correct information that I got from YP4, and from his social worker, B. That's all really – what it was about actually, you know, not just from what they told me".

This was consistent with the social workers' perspectives. Social workers received little to no information *prior* to the young people entering the programme:

I heard about it when I did a visit with [young person] to see where to go from here. So, it was myself, his case manager at the time, and [young person]. The case manager told me about it... While he was in the programme... By the time I visited him he was actually engaging with the programme.

In general, social workers knew little about the programme:

Like I said before, it is jointly run by Korowai Manaaki and it's for high risk offenders.

All I know is what I read on the [current research information and consent] form. It's really sad aye. Yeah, my question was, what residence did he do this in? It's a huge problem with me, and it's a huge problem I've had with the residences, that they were not good at giving me information.

Not on paper, just verbally told me. I still don't remember much about it. But I remember regulating or managing your emotions, and the way you respond to others or situations. I don't know if that's what it's about or not, but it sounded good.

As one social worker suggests, more information and supporting greater engagement with the programme would be preferable:

Just something on paper, or a brochure, yeap... I think it would have been good to be part of it and to know about it a bit more.

I would have liked to have been advised he was doing it, given the information about it, and also how I could support it... For me, I would like something quite specific sent to me, that outlines the programme...So, it's reasonably specific and detailed. I would have

appreciated a phone call from his case worker, or the person that is providing that, and discussion around how I could support [young person's] learning in that programme.

To summarise these findings, it appears both whānau and social workers lacked information about the programme. Furthermore, both groups felt if they had more knowledge of the programme then they could have supported the young people's progress in the programme. Collaboration with relevant stakeholders (e.g., whānau, social workers) is an important part of any programme (Chinman, Imm, & Wandersman, 2004). For a programme to be most effective, it requires a formal sustained commitment between stakeholders to "enhance each other's capacity for a common mission by sharing risks, responsibilities, and rewards" (Himmelman, 1996, p. 3).

A more structured approach to referrals

As stated in the programme description, for young people on a Correction's sentence, those referred for the programme were firstly screened based on using their ROC*ROI score. Whereas for those on a youth court order, the process was less structured. One case leader commented:

I was the referrer, and that would go through F1 and it was really just the one-page kind of just who the young person was... so it would just have like the charges, they would be sentenced young people so 311 supervision with residence that was a criteria.

However, one facilitator acknowledged this process may not have been structured or consistent enough:

I was not advised how Korowai Manaaki selected from the broad population of youth they had there. Maybe transparency on how they identified the youth from Korowai Manaaki, I'm not sure there was a universal procedure for it. I think it was a lot about the youth having to go forward and identify it was a programme they wanted to do. Having a more streamlined approach to all youth being screened for it and having the opportunity to sit down and learn about it may have been helpful.

This is consistent with a young person's account of how he was referred for the programme: "My bros were on it. My bro's were on the course, and it was boring in the unit without them, and they were telling me about it. I talked to F3, and I got in the course". A more structured and consistent approach to referring young people may mean those entering the programme are the young people who would benefit most from being there. This was reflected by the words of one facilitator, who said; "having it more streamlined, fair process where appropriate youth were identified, and then could move into a therapeutic unit and then engage". This reflects the risk principle of RNR, whereby having a fair process of referral can better lead to the identification of those young people at highest risk of reoffending (Andrews & Bonta, 2010).

Timely completion of assessments

As stated in the programme description, assessments included self-report information from the young people; file information; risk-assessment tools; and in some cases, other psychological tests were used, and whānau were contacted. The benefit of using these sources of information, and structured assessment tools will be discussed further. However, this process does mean assessments take a considerable amount of time to complete. The two facilitators responsible for these assessments discuss this;

Done thoroughly in that way, it would take me a whole day to do a thorough file review, interview the young person, and write it up into something coherent.

Maybe two and a half days. That includes the interview with them, and all the other sources, filling out psychometrics, and then putting it all together and completing the assessment summary.

The length it takes to complete these assessments, is not an issue, as it reflects the importance of getting a full understanding of who the young person is, and help identify what

can be best done to meet their needs. However, an issue with the assessment process is that one of the facilitators responsible for assessments, also had another managerial position within the residence. This dual-role is reflected in the below quote by a co-worker: "But F1 was having to do assessments as well [as her other work] and it's just too much. It was a lot of work".

Therefore, once a referral had been put through, it took a considerable amount of time for the assessment to be completed, and for the young people to start the programme: "...and having the assessments done on time... timeliness of those reports that were being done held up a lot of youth getting onto the programme". As the young people were delayed in starting the programme, three further issues arose. Firstly, the delay resulted in there being only a small number of young people in the group: "I think the assessments should be done faster. It got to a point where we only had three boys in there, or two, because assessments weren't done".

Secondly, those on brief Youth Court orders who were referred for the programme may miss out on significant time in the programme, and potentially this may result in them missing the modules which were most relevant to their needs:

Obviously, some of the areas, some would be more important than others, and if you've only got them for a small amount of time, are they going to miss what is the most important part, etc.... So, there were times when you felt like someone came in and out without having their needs addressed.

Thirdly, this delay created operational difficulties for unit staff members. As will be discussed later, it was seen as beneficial to have all the young people in the MTMO programme housed within one unit. However, as the turnover of young people coming into the programme increased, coupled with the delay in assessments, this was not always possible:

Trying to get them through the assessment process... kids were being identified for the programme based on their admission processes. Their names were being put forward, but often because that took too long, time would pass and go, and we would still end up with kids that weren't on the programme in the unit, we were still juggling... So, because that

process was slow, that's what created the lag which then created space and bed [issues] in matai which meant "you've got the bed, put them in there" sort of thing.

As suggested by multiple participants, there was a need for more staff in specialist roles:

I think it was unfair for two facilitators to have to do everything, you know... very clear as what the role is, you know? And that you're not expected to do everything, that you are a programme, you know?

Having more people doing it [assessments]. I was really the only one and it was quite full-on. So, given the extensiveness of everything going on, it would have been helpful to have a few people who were able to help with that.

This sub-theme relates to research on 'waiting time'. Waiting time is defined as the length of time between referral and the first session (Westin, Barksdale, & Stephan, 2014). This length of time is often seen as a key indicator in service access and has been suggested as an important factor in an evaluation of quality assurance (Williams, Latta, & Conversano, 2008). Within the MTMO programme an extended waiting time can reduce the length a young person receives therapy. Research in the youth mental health field suggests longer waiting time into services is associated with decreased motivation for treatment (Westin et al., 2014), increased treatment drop out (Carr et al., 2008), and lower satisfaction with services (Tahhan, Pierre, Stewart, Leschied, & Cook, 2010).

There is a need to improve the assessment process. Practically, young people are often not in the residence for the full duration of MTMO, therefore less waiting time provides the opportunity for more therapy – which is likely to result in improved engagement and outcomes for young people and the community.

Systems-based assessment

In an attempt to avoid the issues related to a long wait time, some adjustments were made to streamline the assessment process. However, as a result, in some cases, systems-based information was not used to its full potential in assessments. Inclusion of the YPO's broader

system would have seen consultation with at least both whānau, and social workers occuring. In some cases, this was done; *Yes, [systems] is definitely something I always include in working with youth, and I understand the importance of it.* However, in some cases, as a source of system-related information, the OT computer database was used: "*I would use what was on CYRAS*". A social worker explains this can be a useful source of information:

There are heaps of report of CYRAS, and there is also psychological assessment done by the regional youth forensic team, yeah that's a comprehensive report. I think we know information from his birth, his childhood, adolescent years, it's all in CYRAS.

However, often there are cases where: (a) information is not available on CYRAS; (b) the programme had a lot of facts but may lack analysis or content; (c) there may be contradicting information. These points are explained by two social workers, and a facilitator:

- (a) We don't always have the time to put everything on CYRAS. That's a frontline challenge for us. Just keeping our case notes up to date is a challenge... There is a lot on our mind that is not always on CYRAS. So, I think that [talking to social workers] would have been defiantly a lot more beneficial than just having a look on CYRAS. Just having a conversation with social workers.
- (b) But, I mean during discussion you find out what people have missed because CYRAS is huge, [young person's] file is huge, so during discussion some of that wouldn't have been there. And sometimes it's the analysis stuff, a lot of what is reported on CYRAS is facts, but there is a lot of analysis isn't there.
- (c) I think there is a lot of inconsistency in the information held on file, depending on who the worker is and how experienced they are. There can be contradicting information, misinterpretation of behaviours depending on how well they are experienced with youth, or how much study they have done.

Given the social worker's role is *to find out the background, the family history, and what* are the underlying issues for the young people's offending; their involvement in the assessment process would be beneficial in understanding the young person. Furthermore, whānau are also

capable and in some cases, are pleased to provide as much information as possible. One mother spoke about giving information to the residence about her son's mood;

Well they did ring me, and they asked what is it that affects mood swings in [young person] because he's short tempered. What can they do to talk to him about what's going on for him and that. They were really good about that, because it helped them to know a bit about him, what medicine he could take, and what he couldn't take... I appreciate that they even gave me phone calls saying this is what we need to know.

Those responsible for completing the assessments acknowledge this issue, and give their suggestions about ensuring adequate resources are available so as to ensure full assessment occurred.

I think it probably would be better to also bring in the social workers and talk to the family as well. If I'd had more time – if I wasn't doing my other role – then yes, I would have liked to have talked to those people as well... More systems instead of just what is contained within the computer system and talking with the young person.

I think they [social workers] would be really useful.

I think that the site social worker would be key in the referral, the assessment process...

When gathering and recording information, seeking alternative points of view or sources of information is important (Baker et al., 2011). For example, talking to a family member to get a better understanding of their living environment or family dynamics. Many of the factors associated with violent offending in youth are within their environment. These include: antisocial peer relationships (e.g., gang involvement); poor parental or family management (e.g., extreme or inconsistent parental discipline); lack of social support; stress and loss; and neighbourhood violence (Borum, 2000). Although much of the information relevant to these sources may be available on CYRAS, social workers and whānau can also provide up-to-date information which goes beyond what is available on CYRAS.

An evidence-based approach

Among others, a strength of the assessment approach used in the MTMO programme was its use of evidence-based tools. As stated in the programme description, the programme on all occasions used the YLS/CMI, the SAVRY, and in some cases, the MACI and SAPROF:YV. The benefits of doing so were highlighted by those responsible for the assessments:

Being able to drill down to what the needs are. You know, the YLS-I like -I think it really does focus down, not only giving you the risk parameters but also being able to pull out against the RNR model what the actual needs are for the individual.

So, the risk measures were useful for highlighting the level of risk, so the YLS/CMI in particular, especially when working with youth that weren't Corrections, so they didn't have ROC*ROI's. The SAVRY is a good measure to use with youth because it kind of fleshes out their violent risk factors. So, it gives you quite a nice idea of what it looks like for them, and it also includes protective factors which is really good with youth.

Not only did these measures provide a structured approach to understanding the young person's level of risk, they also provided information on the young people's treatment needs and strengths. This is consistent with what the literature suggests about the benefits of evidence-based tools; they provide a comprehensive and consistent approach to assessment by incorporating research-based frameworks into practice (Hoge & Andrews, 2002; Whyte, 2009). Use of such tools facilitates; (a) the classification of risk; (b) the development of an individualised intervention; (c) and provides a baseline for measuring changes in an individuals' progress (Lipsey, 2009).

However, once the Department of Correction's ceased their involvement with the programme, only the YLS/CMI and SAVRY were used. As stated by one facilitator, "Corrections were also using the MACI. We [Oranga Tamariki] didn't have the MACI". The MACI has shown to be effective at identifying relevant treatment targets, personality patterns, as well as providing

data to assist clinicians in assessing adolescents' treatment amenability (Salekin, 2002). This is consistent with how a facilitator described its benefits:

The MACI was probably the most useful one in terms of responsivity with treatment. So, being able to complete that and look at their interpersonal style and see how that would explain some of their behaviours, really gave me a sense of what would work with them and what wouldn't. Especially when I link that with their formulation. Given that the programme is in the unit as well it's not just seeing how they would engage in the group but seeing how unit staff might best encourage the youth to do well.

As stated in a quote above, this made the MACI useful for identifying responsivity factors, and therefore how their needs may be best targeted in therapy and in the unit. For example, in a factor analysis study it was shown that, for YPO in the US, information from the MACI was effective in identifying young people with depressed mood, psychopathic personality patterns, internalising personality traits, acting out characteristics, identity confusion, and social sensitivity (Salekin, 2002). Internalising personality traits (e.g., conforming, submissive) can provide important information about how a young person will behave in a therapeutic environment, and the importance of facilitators keeping them involved and engaged in a group session. Furthermore, acting out characteristics may also be useful information, not only for facilitators, but also for the unit staff who monitor the young peoples' behaviour.

A significant strength of the MTMO programme can be seen in its use of evidence-based assessment tools to identify the risk and criminogenic needs of young people through the use of the YLS/CMI and the SAVRY. However, this suite of assessments tools may be complemented by the use of the MACI, which can be useful for identifying responsivity factors. To do this, OT must employ enough skilled staff so comprehensive assessments can be completed in a timely manner.

Assessment of readiness for treatment

Although there was always a structured approach to understanding the risk and needs of the young people entering the programme, there was no structured approach to identifying the young people's readiness for treatment; "...not in any structured format, so we didn't particularly choose a stage of change for them at that time". Readiness for treatment can be broadly defined as, "the presence of characteristics (states or dispositions) within either the client or the therapeutic situation, which are likely to facilitate engagement in therapy, and which, as a consequence of this investment, are likely to augment the process of therapeutic change" (McMurran & Ward, 2010, p. 78). Therefore, readiness for change requires a young person desires to change their behaviour; is able to respond and engage appropriately in interventions; and possesses the capacities to enter the treatment programme (McMurran & Ward, 2010). Thus, readiness for treatment is broader than simply being motivated for treatment. When young people were asked why they wanted to enter the programme, many stated it was not to make positive changes, but at least initially for other reasons;

People do those programmes to look good on their reports for court.

I didn't really care, I was going for food and munchies, and to get out of the unit, go talk shit with the boys.

To get my early release.

Na I did it for [facilitator], I didn't do it for anything else.

The benefits of assessing readiness for treatment are both pragmatic and ethical. Firstly, if only those selected for the programme are ready, rates of engagement and completion of therapy will be greater (McMurran, 2002), resulting in lower rates of reoffending (McMurran & Theodosi, 2007). Furthermore, a disregard for motivation, as portrayed in the above quote, may

result in coercion which again results in negative outcomes (Parhar, Wormth, Derzen, & Beauregard, 2008). Therefore, it is important the YPO wants to make changes. This is highlighted by a caregiver, and young person below;

But it comes back again on the child because it's the child that has to want change. That's the biggest thing, is change.

Don't just go there because you get shit out of it. Go there because you actually want to change, go there because you don't want to go back there.

However, as one facilitator noted, superficial reasons for entering the programme may gradually have been replaced by more change-related motivations:

... that's what we find with youth even on other programmes. It's usually a superficial approach to begin with, and then they actually see the usefulness of it.

This perspective is supported by a young person who said:

Na I just did the course because it was going to look good on my court appearance. But then I got into it, I got stuck into it and I liked it.

Assessing a young person's readiness for treatment is complex:

That's the tricky part with [young person], we don't know whether he did well because of what he got from the programme, or is it just because he wanted to get early release that he was able to get settled...

Furthermore, assessing readiness can also inform a treatment package which is better tailored to the individual. For example, a young person's beliefs about violence may be the primary factor in reducing their readiness for treatment. By identifying this, work may be done to challenge those beliefs through motivational interviewing. Motivational interviewing is proven to be an effective pre-treatment intervention (McMurran, 2002), which may be used to increase an individual's motivation to change, and therefore readiness for treatment (McMurran & Ward, 2010).

There are many measures available to measure readiness for treatment, however, many lack in empirical validation (Mossière & Serin, 2014), particularly with a youth population (Gašević, 2015). In a critique of available measures, it was suggested the Corrections Victoria Treatment Readiness Questionnaire (CVTRQ; Sharon, Andrew, Kevin, & Tony, 2007) is the best developed measure for assessing readiness. Furthermore, the CVTRQ can be administered quickly by individuals with limited experience. Therefore, case leaders making referrals for the MTMO programme will likely be able to administer the scale; resulting in a more evidence-based decision about the suitability of treatment referrals (Day et al., 2010). However, as with other measures, the CVTRQ has not been validated with a youth population.

Complete follow-up assessments

As stated previously, the programme made effective use of evidence-based assessment tools, but it may be improved by better assessing the young peoples' readiness for treatment. It may be further improved by completing periodic assessments for young people over the course of their rehabilitation. Facilitators stated that there was a need for (a) a mid-treatment measure and (b) a post-treatment measure.

- (a) I reckon there should have been an assessment at the mid-way of the programme. The reason why I say that is just to see how their mindset has changed from when they first started the programme to where they are now. Just so we know if we need to go back and highlight certain areas.
- (a) I think having them [periodic assessments] would help you to stand back and objectively see [how they are progressing], and I think that could be done by someone else that isn't treating them. It would help you see kind of their progress, and what areas need to be addressed further, and then that can lead into understanding their treatment needs and individualise it within session it just keeps that focus.
- (b) I think we need to develop something else which picks up any pre-issues which you can then measure any post issues against.
- (b) Or was there the YLS that was being reviewed half way? Just kind of that evaluation process. A fuller understanding... I think there should be like a version of the

evaluation would be how are they coping in the community? What does the YLS look like now?

The above quotes suggest the need for: a mid-treatment measure to monitor progress; a post-treatment measure to look at outcomes; and a follow-up measure in the community.

Facilitators state two reasons for this; firstly, to get a better understanding of how an individual's needs may have changed and what needs more attention. By having mid-treatment assessments, the treatment plans of young people can be adjusted to better suit their current criminogenic needs (Baker et al., 2011). However, if these assessments are not completed regularly enough, their treatment plans may be lacking in relevance. Secondly, they can be used to measure changes in risk across time. Without having follow-up measures throughout the duration of the programme, it is impossible to monitor changes in risk over time.

Although this recommendation may appear to be a straightforward one; introducing more assessments generates additional work for facilitators who have already got a heavy work load. For example, the interview for the YLS/CMI alone (excluding scoring, and file assessment) can take up to 45 minutes (Campbell et al., 2014). Therefore, to introduce more assessments, staff would need to have more specialist roles to cope with the additional work load. This need has been explained in the previous section, *assessments completed with urgency*.

There are a number of factors which can be seen as strengths in the initial engagement of adolescents (e.g., evidence-based assessment), as well as areas for improvement (e.g., completing these assessments more regularly). The next section follows chronologically from the initial engagement of participants and will discuss how the treatment was delivered to the adolescents, and what their level of engagement in the sessions was like.

Treatment Delivery and Engagement

After asking stakeholders about the initial engagement, referral, and assessment process, facilitators and young people were asked about their thoughts on the delivery of therapy and the level of engagement within the group. Specifically, facilitators and young people were asked about their experiences of the sessions, what worked well to maintain engagement in sessions and what did not; what therapy modalities techniques were most effective, what were least effective, and how these processes could be improved. Nine sub-themes emerged: (a) improving the starter phase; (b) individualised treatment; (c) strengths-based approach; (d) team-building; (e) value of breaks; (f) use of preparation time; (g) a strong therapeutic alliance; (h) a strong cofacilitation relationship; (i) more whānau involvement.

Improving the starter phase

As explained in the programme description section, before young people began the core phase of the programme, they commenced the starter phase. The programme documentation states that the starter group "consists of eight introductory sessions to prepare new participants". By preparing new participants to join the group, the starter phase tried to mitigate some of the negative effects of having a rolling-closed group hybrid structure. One facilitator described the starter phase as:

We basically talk about disclosing information in a group, it's your choice – you don't have to, talk about safety in the room, talk about the different programmes, talk about the communication, talk about your mindset, talk about what kaupapa they bring to the group, and how they feel about working in a group.

The eight sessions would appear necessary if a young person joined the group and were expected to begin the module which the rest of the group were working on. However, in practice the starter phase did not operate as intended. One facilitator stated that, although for some participants the eight starter sessions were always completed, for others this was not the case:

There is meant to be eight starter sessions although for the OT young people there could have been all of that squished into one or two sessions at times, so I'm unsure whether, or how much of that was actually covered. That would create instability in the group if you don't have those ground skills.

As stated above, one of the negative effects of inadequate preparation of young people for the group is that it creates instability within the group when an individual does not have the skills to appropriately engage in therapy. As will be discussed further, this instability can reduce the treatment gains of the group (Marshall & Burton, 2010).

Preparatory programmes have been designed to enhance the effects of subsequent treatment. Research has shown these programmes can be effective for various psychological problems in both individual (Davidson, 1997) and group treatment (Mayerson, 1984). Not only do studies show a reduction in the symptoms of individuals undergoing the therapy, they have also been shown to increase self-disclosure, investment and participation, and increased motivation (Marshall & Moulden, 2006). The purpose of doing so is to: demonstrate treatment can be a positive experience; prepare individuals to work in a group setting; help individuals to feel comfortable discussing their offending; and enhance motivation.

These preparatory programme should be delivered by therapists in a non-confrontational manner, in an attempt to establish a collaborative relationship with clients, consistent with motivational interviewing (Naar-King & Suarez, 2011). For adult sex offenders, a preparatory programme completed prior to the full treatment programme resulted in greater treatment readiness, completers received earlier parole, and recidivated significantly less (both generally and violently) compared to those who completed the full programme only (Marshall, Marshall, Fernandez, Malcolm, & Moulden, 2008).

To conclude, due to the way the MTMO has been practiced as a hybrid rolling-closed group, it requires a sufficient starter phase to prepare the young people for therapy, increase their

motivation and engagement, and increase group cohesion. Similar processes have operated successfully in other programmes and may serve as a starting point for introducing a more robust preparatory programme for MTMO. It is possible, however, if the group structure was revised, a less rigorous starter phase would be required.

Individualised treatment

As discussed previously, the MTMO programme featured an assessment process where the needs of each individual were identified. In theory, this allowed for the development of an individualised treatment plan where each YPO had their needs addressed during treatment in a style which matched their responsivity factors (Stams & van der Helm, 2017). However, in practice some facilitators felt the programme did not cater to the diverse needs of individuals well enough:

Again, some of my concerns was then how do we translate that into direct therapeutic interventions? And I don't think we did that particularly well, so you know, you pull out these needs and these strengths, but they would all still get the same material.

If the young person hasn't got that issue, they would still get the topic.

I do think that with the amount of things that were going on with treatment planning, as well as the turnover of youth that were in the programme, there was difficulty within sessions, being really attuned to thinking, for example, "this is going to be really relevant to this person for this reason". There were times when that happened, but that would be something that I would personally really like to do more of within a group environment.

It was quite hard to keep track of where all the youth were, and make sure that they all got their needs met. Obviously, some of the areas, some would be more important than others, and if you've only got them for a small amount of time, are they going to miss what is the most important part for them.

Overall, the facilitators felt assessments were helpful in identifying the young people's individual needs, but there was a problem in *translating* these into therapeutic interventions which are tailored to the individual within the group format. Individual sessions, therefore were

the main opportunity for staff to deliver treatment which was specific to the individual's needs and learning style. As one facilitator says,

...you can begin to drill a bit deeper through the individual sessions... they can actually look at how is this impacting on me, on my wider community, how I'm going at home with mum, or how I'm going with the young person I had beef with last night.... They've got more ability to reflect and do that in a safe space.

However, these individual sessions occurred for one hour a week, and, as suggested by one facilitator, it may be best to "bolster that up a couple". The need for therapy to be individualised was promoted by other participants, as shown in quotes from a social worker and a young person about the relevance of the substance use topic:

For [young person], substance abuse had never been a serious concern because no abuse evidence for that. For the last 4 years, I visited him many times unannounced, at different times, and he never appeared to be under the influence of any substance.

I've done so many programmes and all that sort of shit, the alcohol and drug treatment, I don't even know why I was referred to alcohol and drugs because I don't smoke or drink, but I've done so many programmes on it, but I don't remember anything about them.

Currently, evidence-based treatments for young people who offend are based on CBT, and often applied in one-size-fits-all fashion (Stams & van der Helm, 2017). Therapeutic interventions for young people can be individualised in two ways; (a) by targeting the individual's most salient criminogenic needs, and (b) by tailoring the interventions to suit their responsivity style (i.e., learning style, level of motivation, strengths, therapist-client match). Interventions with focus on individual skills and beliefs are seen as critical components for treatment of YPO (Hoge et al., 2008). In a meta-analysis of individualised treatment for adolescents responsible for severe aggression, young people best benefited from a CBT approach which has an individual component (Hoogsteder et al., 2015). Furthermore, when an individual's criminogenic needs are not matched to treatment services, there are significantly higher rates of

recidivism compared to when they are matched (Peterson-Badali et al., 2015). So, using the young person above, providing substance use treatment where is no need, could actually increase their risk of reoffending.

The perspectives of stakeholders and recent research are consistent on the value of individualised treatment. That is, the MTMO programme would benefit from increasing the use of the individualised therapy to deliver treatment which meets the needs of the young people (e.g., tailoring group therapy to meet individual needs), and is delivered according to their learning style.

Strengths-based approach

The next sub-theme which emerged through the interviews was how strength-based models (e.g., GLM, tuakana-teina) and approaches to therapy increased the young people's engagement in the sessions. Strength-based approaches focus on an individual's personal and interpersonal capacities (Fortune, 2017). More specifically, they focus on building up their skills (e.g., social skills) so they can achieve personally meaningful goals, rather than focusing purely on their deficits (i.e., criminogenic needs). The following quotes by two facilitators illustrate how building an individual's leadership skills through the Tuakana-Teina model became an effective way to engage them and others in the group:

Because you know, I'll use [young person], he never said boo in the sessions, and then as the sessions went by his confidence started growing. Next minute, he was the only young person in here that was the old, like, original person. And he became the taukana in the sessions, and all of a sudden, like as soon as we start talking about sessions, and we kind of offered it to the boys, it will all quiet. And then, [young person] do you have anything to say? Yeah so, boys it's like this, and this, and this. And the boys would be like, oh yeah. So, he kind of [led] some of the sessions, yeah, which was awesome.

So, the tuakana-teina, that's not therapeutic as much, but in terms of the group dynamics it was really helpful...I think firstly, the fact that it, with the youth, they are very much more influenced by their peers. So, having a positive influence in the group, that was a

peer, had a lot more effect on their engagement and motivation, than engaging in motivational interviewing or strategy of choice from a facilitator. Secondly, it provided the youth with a shorter-term goal which also increased their motivation.

This was supported by a social worker and a young person when discussing engagement in the sessions:

So, it seemed like [young person] wasn't, you know, he said [young person] isn't interested in it, he wasn't engaging. But with some work with the team, apparently, he became the leader in it. And he was encouraging others to attend and he came to enjoy it.

Yeah, it's easier to learn because you are explaining it and learning it at the same time. Other people are giving you things that put in your head.

Through these quotes, it appears the tuakana-teina was a strength-based approach that not only increased the leadership skills of those in the group, but also improved the motivation and engagement of young people. Relatedly, it appeared helping young people set goals they could work towards was an effective tool for motivating them. An example of this was the carving work some young people were involved in:

Also, having goals and tasks for them to work towards that were a benefit for them. So, not having the same thing for everyone. For example, with [young person] getting the carving going for him, and him being quite motivated to get that short reward right in front of him and something that he really actually wanted.

It's because they actually invested in the programme. You know, [young person] could never ever say 'boo' in the sessions. So, we choose a special project for him; a carving. And he would spend six hours in that room.

As suggested in these quotes, activities such as carving act as motivators for young people which increase their engagement. The GLM also suggests activities may increase a young person's emotional regulation through these activities, or it may act as a prosocial secondary good in which they can achieve 'excellence in work' (Ward & Gannon, 2006). The GLM offers an approach to rehabilitation which has the potential to be more engaging for young people

because they are working on goals (e.g., carving) which are personally meaningful. Without directly referencing GLM, one young person described their preference for its use:

Life skills. Like, cooking, cleaning, how to save money. Not sitting down reading about it and stuff like that. If you want to learn about it, you can read about it in your own time, you know, they should do stuff that actually helps you.

Strength-based approaches need to be individualised (Fortune, 2017). As one young person says; "just finding stuff, because some people don't like doing sport, so finding something they want to do", it does not have to be carving or sport, as everyone has different goals and meaningful ways to achieve these goals. Many of the current therapeutic interventions available focus on avoiding further offending, which does not relate to their primary concerns, and is therefore not particularly motivating (Fortune, 2017). The GLM was used in the MTMO programme, however when asked, one facilitator said:

I use it [the GLM] a lot more now, and I would probably if I was to run the programme again I would highlight more of the Good Lives Model in there. I think the youth connect with it easily.

By focusing on a young person's core values and motivations, there is less need for alternative approaches such as motivational interviewing (Fortune, 2017). Secondly, by using approach goals, individuals are likely to maintain changes and continue to pursue pro-social goals post-treatment.

Session preparation time

Before each session it is common practice for facilitators to meet and discuss the content and strategies for that session. However, in the MTMO programme, it appeared this was often not the case. Two facilitators said the following:

The other thing would be session planning; that was very minimal. I tried to have it quite structured at the start, so having like a decent amount to plan and talk about how we were going to go through things in the pre-session. But, it just didn't really work with [facilitator]. It ended up being minimal planning, which meant that we weren't able to

discuss those things in depth... We had scheduled to meet an hour beforehand, and that just wouldn't work out. So, I would turn up and [facilitator] wouldn't be there, or [facilitator would] turn up just in time, and I'd attempt to plan but it wasn't effective. So, I just started doing the session planning, with or without [facilitator], I would make sure I had an understanding of what was going to happen and what we were doing. Then [facilitator] would go along with what was happening in the room.

[We would meet] like five minutes before delivery.

Due to the youthful nature of the MTMO programme, the sessions were often being delivered for the first time by the two facilitators. As facilitators commented:

...it is designed to be a flexible programme. So, you just pick up the session, if it's got a few pointers and objectives, and then you run it however you want from there. So, that part I would do before the programme, and that would take me 1-2 hours, depending on what I was planning.

[Facilitator] had to re-write like sessions every day, the night before. Then we would only sit down and catch up that day...

This amount of flexibility and rewriting within the MTMO programme suggests session planning is a required part of the programme, and a set time to meet and discuss the delivery of the sessions is required by both facilitators. Facilitators need to understand how each session will proceed; the roles each facilitator will take in the sessions; and what content is most relevant for each young person. Although no research was found to support the need for session planning; in such a youthful programme, which in some cases was delivered by inexperienced facilitators; a sufficient preparation time is necessary if sessions are to be delivered effectively.

Group cohesiveness

As the MTMO programme was structured as a rolling group, individuals could join the group at any stage during the programme. As a result, developing a strong group cohesiveness became a central task for the engagement of young people in the sessions. As one facilitator commented:

When we initially started we had some young people who were here for quite a long time so when we got to the point where people were joining, it was quite a cohesive group and that can be difficult for young people. They can feel it's their group, and think who is this person coming in?

Group cohesion refers to a dynamic process whereby a group remains united in pursuit of its goals and objectives (Carron, 1982). To improve group cohesion, one facilitator encouraged the young people in the starter phase to join group activities so once they joined the group they already felt comfortable to engage and join group discussions:

I would do the starter sessions with the boys that would come in before they would actually join the programme... It was good because I was able to bring the young person in a lot earlier, not the sessions, but I was able to get the young person in on the group activities... So, when he does join the sessions, he's feeling like he's a part of the group... he feels more comfortable because he doesn't feel like an outsider.

Two young people described how this affected them once they joined the group:

Yeah, we did little group activities. He prepared us for the group, like what to expect, set down the standards.

[It was] easy [to join the group], because I already knew everyone.

Furthermore, one facilitator stated that "the tuakana-teina model and process discussions were used to facilitate group cohesiveness". Although group cohesiveness in rehabilitation programmes has received little attention, particularly with youth, several authors have claimed group cohesion is essential for achieving treatment gains (Marshall & Burton, 2010). For example, Braaten (1989) found for adults with offending histories, group cohesion was a precondition to client engagement in the change process. Given the importance of peers for young people (Day et al., 2004), group cohesion may have more of an impact on treatment gains than it does for adults. However, furt

her research in this area is required.

Increasing group cohesion can benefit the engagement of young people in the sessions.

Therefore, it appears to be in the best interest of the MTMO programme to continue to facilitate this process of cohesion through group activities, for example.

Value of breaks

Another sub-theme which emerged through the interviews and can be seen as another strength of the MTMO programme, was the importance of having breaks during sessions. As described by one facilitator, breaks often consisted of a brief period of physical exercise during or after the session:

...when it first started they used to do that, they used to play basketball, like they'd do session, I think it was like 40 minutes and they'd go and play basketball. Just as a debrief with the boys and a reward.

These breaks appeared to serve more than one function. Regardless of whether the break was during the session or afterwards, it served as an incentive for young people to take part in the sessions. This is illustrated by a young person:

Just keeps us interested, can give us some incentive to go to the programme. Because no one would go if it was just go in there and get bored for like 40 minutes or whatever it is and then walk out.

As previously discussed, addressing offending behaviour is not a strong motivator for young people, and therefore including physical exercise may act as a reinforcer for young people to take part in therapy. Additionally, engaging in therapy can also be cognitively taxing – particularly for young people who may have struggled in traditional learning environments. Furthermore, with the high rates of neurodisabilities (e.g., attentional-deficit hyperactivity disorder; Hughes, Williams, Chitsabesan, Davies, & Mounce, 2012), and substance use amongst young offending populations (Chassin, 2008), breaks during sessions may be necessary to keep young people focused. This is supported by the following two facilitator quotes:

...taking breaks when they needed them because they tend to need breaks, more than what the adult groups do.

We do gym time just to get the guys to wind down from all the talking and over-thinking, and probably stressed from talking to us.

Finally, having the group participate in physical team exercises, such as basketball, during these breaks may facilitate group cohesion (Glass & Benshoff, 2002), which, as discussed in the previous theme, may increase engagement in therapy and the change process. However, as one facilitator suggested, there needs to be structure applied to breaks so they do not last too long and disrupt therapeutic sessions:

Having some processes around break time would have been helpful, because at times it would go for quite a long time, and often the youth would enjoy that because they are spending the time playing basketball instead of doing treatment work in the group.

Physical breaks were seen as a positive part of sessions by both young people and facilitators. They helped young people stay focused, and positively reinforce their attendance and engagement. However, as suggested by a facilitator, there needs to be structure around break times.

A strong therapeutic alliance

I remember at one stage we praised a [young person] for how well he was doing, and noted his strengths, and he said "are you trying to be nice or something?" and then he said, "I feel really weird, like warm and fuzzy", like it was something he had never experienced before, and he was like, wow what is this?

A therapeutic alliance (TA) refers to the client-therapist relationship (Marshall & Burton, 2010), and can be defined as a collaborative relationship between therapist and client that can facilitate positive change for the client (Ross, Polaschek, & Ward, 2008). The conceptualisation of TA is not a straight-forward task. Ross and colleagues conceptualise TA as consisting of therapist characteristics, therapy-related interactions, and client-characteristics. Firstly, therapist characteristics consist of personality, attachment style, interpersonal schemas, professional skills,

interpersonal skills, goals and expectations (client, alliance, intervention). Therapist characteristics were commonly mentioned by participants. For young people, personality and interpersonal skills were important therapist characteristics. This was evident when discussing one facilitator:

Have someone like [facilitator] to run it. If you have like an old white lady to run it nobody would go because it just would like, "don't do this, don't do that". But if you have like a laid-back Samoan or something, all the boys would go... It doesn't even matter about their culture or anything it's just if they are laid back or not.

He would just sit on the couch with us like normal, lay down and shit, and just crack up and s***. Whereas [facilitator] would just sit there, trying to tell everyone what not to do and s***. Yeah, he's just laid back, blends in pretty much.

However, in addition to these characteristics, facilitators themselves saw professional skills and goals of therapy to be important factors in developing and maintaining the TA with young people:

They had a very good therapeutic relationship with [facilitator] so it was like "cool I get to hang out with [facilitator]". But whether they took anything out of the sessions is still a question that I have.

I think actually, facilitator boundaries, me and [facilitator] being consistent with the boundaries, and the rules in the room, and making sure that those things are constantly addressed.

This suggests having a relaxed facilitator who has clear boundaries was perceived as being most effective in delivering therapy. Therefore, a combination of both qualities, interpersonal and therapeutic, is important in the development and maintenance of TA with young people. There should not be a reliance on one over the other, but rather a balance between the two.

Although therapist characteristics have been predominately seen as the exclusive focus of TA, Ross and colleagues (2008) propose client characteristics share equal importance. For example, Muran, Segal, Samstag, and Crawford (1994) found submissive, isolated and friendly

clients developed stronger TA's than those who were hostile, aggressive and dominant. Client characteristics consist of the same factors as therapist characteristics, however, instead of professional and interpersonal skills, therapy-related competencies (e.g., readiness, intellectual ability) are included under client characteristics, and need to be considered when assessing group dynamics and planning sessions.

Thirdly, therapy-related interactions refer to the interactions between the therapist and client characteristics. Ross et al. (2008) argue that although the characteristics of both therapist and client are important, it is the match between the two that actually predicts TA. For example, Horvath and Luborsky (1993) found the client's perception of the therapists as an empathetic individual is more predictive of TA and treatment outcome than the therapist's behaviour itself. This interaction may explain why the young people developed a strong attachment to one facilitator in particular.

Setting and contextual factors also play a part in TA. These factors often include the physical and social environment in which therapy occurs (as was discussed in the sub-theme *an appropriate therapeutic space*), the level of systemic support for the programme, and programme characteristics. Systemic support, such as resourcing, was mentioned a number of times by staff. For example, one facilitator stated without the full support from the Ministry, the programme would not be effective:

So, I really would want to have a dedicated team and to do it properly. It needs to be something we look at all four YJ residences and resource across all four YJ residences. You can try it here, you can pilot it here, but if you're not doing it elsewhere and there is no consistency then you are actually on a highway to nothing.

To conclude this sub-theme, TA is a complex phenomenon, with many contributing factors. For behaviour change to occur, it requires a positive interaction between the characteristics of the facilitator and the young people. However, it also requires an immediate environment and

organisational climate which is supportive of change. Some of these factors have been reviewed and will be discussed further.

Dual-Role

A dual-role is often an issue in programmes for YPO, and can be defined as a "quandary in which a psychiatrist [or therapist/facilitator] faces the dilemma of conflicting expectations or responsibilities, between the therapeutic relationship on one hand and the interests of third parties on the other" (Robertson & Walter, 2008, p. 229). There are many situations in which a dual-role may emerge, with some having more serious therapeutic and ethical consequences than others. An example of a dual-role commonly found in rehabilitation programmes are when a therapist produces a report regarding a client's progress and risk of further offending (Ward, 2013). This raises questions regarding therapist-client confidentiality (an ethical issue) and may also compromise the TA (a therapeutic issue).

Within the MTMO programme, there appeared to be multiple staff who were operating in a dual-role position. However, it was one facilitator whose dual-role appeared to create a significant issue. The first of these issues regarded the TA, as acknowledged below by the facilitator themselves, and a young person:

I think they got it, but I think as I said, when I stepped in there was this bit of, well we've lost [facilitator], we liked [facilitator], you're our manager so we're actually not going to listen to you. ... [it was] difficult for the young people seeing me as something other than the manager.

I don't know, like we couldn't really express our feelings around her... Because she was management. We weren't used to it.

As shown above, role conflict has the capacity to cause confusion in clients about how they should behave (Ross et al., 2008). For their therapeutic benefit, young people were required to disclose information regarding their offending behaviour and related cognitions within the

context of a therapeutic relationship with facilitators. However, when a facilitator is in a managerial role, they also have the ability to enforce punishments on young people and make recommendations which impact their release. This is likely to result in a lack of trust on behalf of the young people. This is significant issue, as if clients do not trust their therapist, a positive TA is difficult to attain (Marshall & Serran, 2004). Furthermore, the developmental histories of young people in these rehabilitation programmes often result in a difficulty in trusting others, particularly adults in authoritative positions (Grisso, 1997). Not only did the young people find this difficult, but the relevant facilitator acknowledged this also placed them in a conflicted position.

The second way this facilitator's dual-role caused issues was through the co-facilitator relationship. While this facilitator was co-facilitating with two other facilitators, this facilitator was also their supervisor and manager. This relationship was discussed by two facilitators below:

...it was also difficult for [facilitator] to see me as something other than the manager. So, it's really difficult when you're trying to deliver a therapeutic programme and be in that space and yet your substantive role is actually a manager, so it doesn't really fit very well.

I had to be a facilitator within a case leader role and my lead facilitator was my supervisor. So, there was blurred boundaries already within that co-facilitator relationship... Yeah, I would have preferred to just have a co-facilitator relationship... I was still mindful that she was my manager and I was conflicted in what I would share because [the other facilitator] may interpret it more as the supervisor-management level, rather than the co-facilitator relationship. This impacted on the transparency of feedback within the co facilitator relationship.

This facilitator's experience, training, and the views of others suggested that they were a competent supervisor, co-facilitator, and manager. However, the perspectives above suggest doing all three at the same time created strains in delivering therapy and supervising others. This dual-role may have disrupted the alliance between the facilitators. For example, the supervisee stated they felt uncomfortable disclosing information to this facilitator during supervision.

Failure to disclose information within a supervisory relationship has been associated with a poor supervisory alliance (Ladany, Hill, Corbett, & Nutt, 1996), which can result in an erosion of professional self-confidence, and increased performance anxiety (Orlinsky & Rønnestad, 2005).

There are ways to overcome this dual-role; this facilitator suggests it would be best overcome by occupying one role: "I think I wouldn't be doing the facilitation. I would purely be in the role of supervision or overseeing the programme rather than trying to deliver it.

More whānau involvement

According to programme documentation, "participants are encouraged to build and maintain whānau support for their programme involvement and ongoing rehabilitation reintegration", and to "engage prosocial whānau support early and regularly during the programme" (Kilgour & Borg, 2016, p. 30). Therefore, all participants were asked about whānau involvement in the programme. This included, what involvement they had, whether this was sufficient, and how whānau could be more involved in the programme. Firstly, and as stated earlier, overall whānau involvement was minimal, with no direct involvement in therapy. Many facilitators commented there should have been more whānau involvement:

I would have liked to have seen having a whānau hui where the young person can present their learning, their goals, what support they need, what they're going to do, all of those sorts of things and we didn't have that built into the programme.

Get the whānau in, you know. Get the whānau to see what these sessions look like. Have one on one whānau sessions with the young person, these are the types of things that your young person is learning. What else do you guys want us to have? What's your input into the sessions? What's your areas that you see that your young person needs [help with]? And vice versa, what does the young person see that you guys are missing as parents or caregivers?

And that was the other part, how are we working with the whānau? How are we addressing these issues with whānau? ... In the ideal world whānau would be involved. I would love to have a wānanga here, because if we could fit in a whānau weekend then

one part of the component of the programme could be just with the whānau. That's the ideal.

As suggested by these quotes, there are a range of ways whānau involvement could be improved. This includes: involving them in therapy sessions to understand what the young people are doing, and to meet their needs as caregivers; and involving them in a whānau hui or graduation where the young people can discuss what their goals are before treatment, how the whānau can facilitate them in achieving these goals, and what they have learnt after they finish the programme. However, there are always going to be individual differences in the level of motivation caregivers have to take part in the programme. For example, two social workers said the following:

So, it's whether the parents will be able to support something, but obviously it would be beneficial, but in [young person's] case I don't think Mum would have been open to it. She would have been like "get out of my face. He did the offending, not me, kind of thing".

Yeah, in the [young person's] case, his uncle would have been more than happy to attend, at least an introduction section to explain what they cover in the programme, and also they would have got some info from his uncle that would have been helped them to work with [young person].

Furthermore, as young people are placed into residences based on availability rather than geographical proximity, there are instances where a caregiver's location may result in minimal involvement. Research shows greater distance between a young person's family and the residential facility results in less contact (Robst et al., 2013).

However, although difficult, family therapy and family involvement in a young person's therapy has been associated with better treatment outcomes, and described as a 'critical component' of treatment with YPO (Hoge et al., 2008). The Mendota Juvenile Treatment Centre (MJTC) is an example of a secure residential programme which has attempted to involve family

members in the delivery of therapy. When possible, the MJTC staff locate and contact the family members of young people in order to re-engage the youth with a supportive adult. Greater family involvement has been associated with lower readmission (Lakin, Brambila, & Sigda, 2004). Although difficult, the words of the participants and the latest research suggests involving whānau more may serve to increase therapeutic gains, facilitate reintegration into the community, and increase desistance.

The Transition Phase

After the young people completed the core phase of the MTMO programme, they moved onto the transition phase. The object of this phase was to "move beyond the youth unit and/or return to the community" (Kilgour & Borg, 2016, p. 31). Although in some cases young people were transitioned into adult prison, for many young people they were transitioned into the community. Participants were asked about the content of this phase, how much support was provided for young people in their re-entry, how successful reintegration was, and how this phase may be improved. Two sub-themes emerged: (a) improve the transition plan; and (b) introduce aftercare services.

Improve the transition plan

Once a young person is released from a youth justice residence there are a raft of challenges they face in the community when attempting to successfully reintegrate. A transition plan or release plan, whether it be to adult prison or the community, is often created before they leave the facility to support this process. These plans address the fundamental aspects of life in the community, such as where they will live and whether they will return to school or what employment they will seek, and who will support them to do so (Dickson & Polaschek, 2014).

Participants were asked about the transition plans used in the MTMO programme, how detailed they were, and whether they could be improved. There appeared to be two perspectives on this matter. For those young people serving a Corrections' sentence, the plans were said to be sufficiently detailed:

...for the Corrections guys, we really focused on having a procedure of transition for them. So, making sure that basically they had a good safety plan and release plan prior to their transition, and make sure that they had the most successful one as possible.

However, for those on a supervision with residence order, there appeared to be minimal planning for release:

And then having something at the end individually, I think they were trying to do safety plans but I never saw one.

I think some of that is about having a clear transition pathway for it. So, at the moment, it's you've got your early release – off you go. Whereas I would like to see it, you know, say one month out from early release, having a clear transition pathway, a whānau hui, all of those sorts of things.

Although literature on transition plans for young people is lacking, there is an association between the strength of transition plans and recidivism for adults who have offended both violently (Dickson & Polaschek, 2014; Dickson, Polaschek, & Casey, 2013) and sexually (Willis & Grace, 2008; Willis & Grace, 2009). Those who had better quality plans overall (safety plan, accommodation, employment, prosocial support, release environment, antisocial peers, and release plan total), were significantly less likely to be reconvicted in six months following their release (Dickson & Polaschek, 2014). This suggests by improving the quality of release plans, individuals may be more successful on their return to the community. The importance of quality planning was explained by a facilitator, who said:

So, if you've got a transition that's just tick box, how is that ever fitting in with the work that we're trying to do with the young person, so it could be whānau life, it could be other goals, they do smart goals. So how does the transitional supervision order fit in with their

smart goal? How do we support [provide] in that way, cause they come here, they do a programme, they've got a supervision order and then it's like "here you go". You know, and I feel that our intentions are never to be tick box. But I find that some community social conditions kind of limit how we do things and some of the constraints.

As discussed in this quote, and reflected in the literature, the intention of a release plan is not to simply tick a box, but to actually facilitate a young person's return to the community through careful and practical planning. As mentioned above, there is no known study which tests the quality of release planning for young people and their outcomes in the community. However, based on ecological systems theory, the environment in which an individual operates has significant impact on the behaviour of a young person (Bronfenbrenner, 1992). For example, low parental supervision coupled with adolescent antisocial peers is a strong predictor of violent behaviour in adults (Van Ryzin & Dishion, 2013). Although the avoidance of antisocial peers may have been a focus of therapy in the MTMO, both these factors operate in the community in which the young person is released. Therefore, careful planning to facilitate a young person's reintegration into the community should not be ignored. For example, in a practical way, how will they cope with their old antisocial friends?

Introduce aftercare services

Interventions for adolescents during their residential placement appear to have positive immediate effects (Lipsey, 2009). However, many of these treatment gains disappear once they are released from the residence, as secure residential facilities provide structure and close monitoring, which is sorely lacking in the environment young people return to (Altschuler & Armstrong, 1998). This same point was raised by a participant in the current study who said; "Yeah, in that environment it [treatment] did [help]. Like, it's easy in there, of course it can. It's like you need structure, but on the outs [outside community], that doesn't really apply". When the same young person was asked about returning to the community, they said: "I forgot about it

[the programme] when I got out, I'll be real. I forgot about everything... I just adapted myself to the outside world. Forgot about a lot of things". This view has been eloquently summarised in a theme by musician, and rap idol of many adolescent participants, Kendrick Lamar, who states "adaption inevitable" when discussing the environmental causes of criminal behaviour in the song, Duckworth.

The lack of aftercare services in the MTMO programme was a strong theme discussed by many participants. Two facilitators acknowledged this in following statements:

The transition phase was... to be honest I don't even know if it was part of the programme.

The hardest thing about the programme, especially for youth in Korowai Manaaki who are in and out quite a lot and based in Auckland, once they are in the community, I have no authority to contact them. And the research says that the transition to the community has to be successful, it is the most critical part, and it's the part we didn't work on.

That was the other part I didn't really know much about - what was happening in the community?

As stated by these facilitators, there was minimal aftercare services. In some cases, when young people were released, there was an informal meeting with a facilitator. This is described by two facilitators and one caregiver:

I took it upon myself. I just met with social workers for these boys' early release, and I started being a lot more involved in what's happening with these boys when they learn and kind of give feedback. The initial thing was I only attended those meetings to give feedback on the MTMO, on how they're going. I took it another step where I wanted to follow the young person in the community.

Again, there was no written process or structure for how that should be; it was a catchup.

They rung me and caught up with me and asked how he was settling in at home, is there anything that they could do to help. They came out for a visit, and I never heard from them again.

However, many participants felt that this was not enough, and stated that improvement in this area was necessary. A facilitator, a caregiver, and a social worker stated the following:

I would much prefer a clearer structure you know, maybe booster sessions in the community or something like that where we have a clearer process that involves probably family, site social workers to come together... Maybe up to six months. Maybe monthly booster sessions in the community.

I don't know what I would like from them now. But at the time, it would have been nice if they were more in contact with whānau and more involvement of coming to the home environment, and just catching up, you know, not just waiting until your son comes out and saying "Sorry whānau, you're on your own now". I thought that one visit was good, but it should improve by having you know, bring it out to six weeks or something. Just stay in [contact and give] whānau support. That would be very helpful.

But if we had someone who he had, just him and [young person] mentoring... Just maybe to remind him to use, if he did learn any skills in the programme, to remind him how to use those skills, and apply them in his current life.

The need for aftercare services has been of growing interest in the literature as it presents an opportunity to support long-lasting change by those released from secure residential facilities. There have been many studies looking into the effectiveness of re-entry or aftercare services for YPO. A meta-analysis analysed the results of 22 studies and 5764 participants, accounting for demographic and offence history characteristics, intervention type, intensity, duration, and when the participants began the programme (James et al., 2013). Firstly, aftercare services were found to be significantly more effective for YPO with violent offending histories compared to those without violent offending histories, particularly for those at a high-risk of reoffending. Secondly, aftercare services were more effective when they targeted older adolescents. Interestingly, aftercare services which focused on the individual alone were more effective than those which targeted the system alone, as well a combined individual and system focus. This finding

contradicts much of the literature looking at multisystemic therapy, as Borduin and Schaeffer (2001) suggest effective community intervention focus on the individual-system interaction.

Thirdly, individually focussed aftercare had significantly larger effect sizes compared to individual and group therapy. This may be explained by the reinforcement of antisocial beliefs through group therapy (Dishion, McCord, & Poulin, 1999). Fourthly, and not-surprisingly, interventions which were 'well-implemented' had significantly larger effects than those which were poorly implemented. This suggests the fidelity of the implementation is important to consider. Lastly, the intensity of the aftercare treatment was shown to be more important than its duration. The duration of aftercare did not have any significant impact on treatment, while more frequent contact between programme staff and clients was associated with decreased recidivism.

Based on these findings, it is recommended that MTMO programme introduce aftercare services. These services should focus on high-risk YPO's; providing one-on-one individual treatment, with contact occurring multiple times a month, using well-trained and supervised staff to ensure fidelity is maintained.

The Unit Environment

As previously discussed, the MTMO programme operates in a secure residential facility. For young people living in the residence, this means much of their time is spent in the unit. The unit environment has the ability to moderate the effects of treatment, with a supportive environment having the ability to enhance the effects of treatment (van der Laan & Eichelsheim, 2013). In light of this, young people, unit staff, and facilitators were asked about the unit environment. Specifically, they were asked about the living group climate; how well the unit staff understood the programme; the level of supervision unit staff received; how well they reinforced the teachings of the programme; and the level of communication between programme

staff and unit staff. Within this theme, three sub-themes emerged: (a) more unit staff training; (b) more communication between programme and unit staff; and (c) a strong therapeutic unit.

Improved unit staff and case leader training

If everyone had the same vision and understanding of what the need was, I think that would have made it a very effective programme.

As staff training of facilitators will be discussed in a later section, this section specifically discusses the MTMO training of unit staff and case leader training. According to Pazaratz (2003), effective group care is underpinned by the skills, knowledge, and problem solving of care staff. The staff require skills in: behaviour management, limit setting, monitoring of progress; problem-solving skills; communication; and the fostering of prosocial attitudes and behaviours (Pazaratz, 2000). These skills allow for treatment gains to not only occur within the MTMO sessions, but also within the unit environment.

Both the interviewed unit staff member and facilitators mentioned that unit staff had a lack of understanding about both the content of the MTMO programme, and how they could support the programme within the unit. One facilitator, who was formerly in the position of case leader, said the following about their training:

First off, I'm a residential case leader here, so when the programme started I wasn't a programme facilitator. But my role within that process was supporting the young person practice the skills that they were learning within the programme. In that role itself I didn't really know too much about the programme rather than a trust in Corrections that they knew what they were doing, and they were run by clinical psychologists...We did have a brief overview, but in terms of the actual content, I didn't really know how it was being delivered. I did training, well I wouldn't say training, I did a one-day workshop, we all did as case leaders... I just feel that we need more training for staff.

This view was supported by a unit staff member who stated the following:

So, when we came out of that training session, my staff had a lot of questions... like "what is the programme? What is MTMO? What is our responsibility? What is our role? What does a structured day look like? You've got special projects, what's that?" and then the progress report thing came... and it was like "what is this?"...One staff member, he

was asking "I've had no training in this, so what are you expecting me to do with the boys? And what support am I getting to be able to do that?"

This participant suggested that the training lacked, not only in quantity, but also in quality. The lack of training was acknowledged by two facilitators below:

I don't think the staff were prepared enough for what the programme was about. I don't blame the staff for the anxieties around the programme.

Some of the staff were really keen to know more and help the youth integrate those skills, but the communication was not there, and some of the staff weren't either keen or didn't understand it enough to be able to apply that. So, I think although it was okay, it could have been better, and that would be through probably more staff training, and more communication from facilitators.

Within the MTMO programme, a lack of staff training led to a number of issues, according to the participants. One of these issues was the use of behavioural monitoring forms which were used to observe the young people in the unit, and record observations relevant to their criminogenic needs (e.g., antisocial attitudes). The purpose of this was to inform programme staff of any changes along these dimensions. However, two staff stated there was not enough training around this to be able to appropriately complete the forms:

So, they had to monitor, let's say antisocial attitudes, it might be glorifying crime or something. How often are they doing it in their unit, you know? Like and can't remember off the top of my head how many areas of the monitoring form, and the floor staff were expected to feedback on that. It just went right over their heads... But what was missing, I guess, that would take us back to training, was that the language and the understanding was too advanced for the staff, you know?

So, this happened without any training or anything. Honestly it did. It happened with no training, it was like "here's the form, I need you guys to fill this out so observe client A's behaviour, write down the positives and negatives of it, read these statements, if anything lines up, record that". On top of the usual job they had, that was really over and above to be honest.

This lack of training eventually led to the observation forms being abandoned. The lack of training also led to: (a) problems in operational work; (b) poor supervision practices; and (c)

poor understanding of communication received from programme staff; and (d) an inability to reinforce the programmes teachings. This was illustrated by a unit staff member and programme facilitator:

- (a) You have the MTMO boys and the structured day they have, yeah it got pretty tough out there and it was quite draining, straining on the staff. So, often I got a lot of complaints "I don't know what's happening with these boys".
- (b) I was concerned with that too because I was asked to provide supervision that I didn't feel fully equipped with.
- (c) When we went to go feed information to the staff about the programme, they still didn't know what we meant.
- (d) I think it was called the breaking ice model, and it was about, I'm not entirely sure, but they were learning things to help manage anger, to utilise time out, to speak to staff. It's kind of like they learnt this in this group space, but as a staffing group in the unit, they only spent stints throughout the day in this [therapy] space, and nothing carried on because the [unit] staff didn't know what they could do to support what the boys had learnt in the sessions... So, it's kind of like all this great work was happening in the sessions, but how were we reciprocating that in the unit, and I don't think we really were capturing it how it should have been to be honest.

One young person mentioned that the staff did not reinforce the programme's principles in the unit:

You go to the MTMO, and you come back after into the unit or the classroom, and you just carry on with your day. You just go there and forget about it as soon as you leave... The staff don't even ask about it or anything.

Not only did staff discuss the lack of training and its impact on job performance, but they also gave recommendations on how to improve the training; including the content and delivery of training:

I think I needed definitely more training around looking at the different layers, and how that fits in with young people and their behaviours, and how do you deliver that

effectively. So, I just wanted to know what did week 1 to week 20 look like, and what else was happening within that process...

Pretty much wanting to know what the boys had learnt, what they needed to support them, what information could be shared, concerns around the programme, the MTMO structured day, yeah, the operational stuff of having to work with boys that weren't in the programme and boys that were.

I would actually do a three-week training on every office day. The teams have office days every Tuesdays, so the three different teams would have office day. And then, just focus on what the programme is about on those office days...

For unit staff and case leaders to facilitate the cognitive and behavioural changes made through the programme, they require training in psychotherapy and behavioural modification principles (Parataz, 2003). Within the adult correctional literature, a commonly used training programme is called "Core Correctional Training" (CCT; Dowden & Andrews, 2004). The correctional staff in the training are trained in five core components of "Core Correctional Practice" (CCP). These principles are: (a) using a 'firm but fair' approach in their interactions with the individuals they are responsible for overseeing; (b) modelling and reinforcing anticriminal attitudes and behaviours; (c) teaching and encouraging the use of adaptive problemsolving skills; (d) making the best use of community resources (eg., mental health referrals); and (e) the use of open, warm, and enthusiastic communication and development of mutual-respect between staff and those in care. In a meta-analysis assessing the effectiveness of programmes which utilise these principles, programmes which incorporated the elements of CCP had significantly lower levels of recidivism (Dowden & Andrews, 2004). All five principles had a small to moderate effect on recidivism, and importantly, they had more of an impact with individuals deemed to be at a high-risk of reoffending. It was concluded that the use of training and supervision may be enhanced by focusing on these principles.

Overall, both unit staff and programme staff mentioned that unit staff did not have adequate training. This led to problems in operational work, supervision, effective communication with MTMO staff, and reinforcement of the MTMO programme in the unit. The staff suggested that unit staff receive training on session content, how content related to the behaviour of young people, how staff could use this content with the young people, and general operational concerns. As one facilitator said, training would likely be an ongoing feature of the programme:

I think it's going to be a longer-term thing of working with the staff because that's not the way that traditionally they have operated here. It's been much more around sort of containment and observing than actually being part of those programmes.

Improved communication between programme and unit staff

Many participants mentioned that unit staff lacked the training to adequately support the MTMO programme. One facilitator mentioned that this resulted in poor understanding of communication revieved from programme. However, it was also stated by staff that there was not enough communication between programme staff and unit stuff. The purpose of communication between these groups was explained by a unit staff member and two facilitators:

So, it was kind of like, okay, what did he learn and what could we do? It was really getting the facilitators or programme manager to liaise in some way to advise us this is what they have learnt today, this is how your staffing group can support them.

To reinforce the learning, and for them to let us know the types of changes that they see in the unit, and also if they are able to hear the young people use language that we use in the sessions then they would know what that means."

I guess the facilitators and the staff knowing what's been covered in group, knowing what the behaviour of the youth are, what types of behaviours are we seeing, and unit staff understanding the material enough to use it in the unit... I think us working with staff as well and helping them to understand the youth, reduced the staff resistance and difficulty with them as well... And how to best deal with them as well and manage them.

As stated, the purpose of communication between programme and unit staff was to help them understand what was being covered in the group so they could reinforce the learning in the unit (e.g., encouraging them to use adaptive coping strategies); for unit staff to inform the programme staff about any changes in cognitions or behaviours within the unit; and whether young people were using terms they had learnt in the sessions. However, both facilitators and unit staff felt that this level of communication was not enough. Two facilitators stated the following:

I don't think we provided them enough with training, enough with updates, yeah. That was also an area where I felt we lacked as an MTMO programme or facilitator team.

Some of the staff were really keen to know more and help the youth integrate those skills, but the communication was not there.

The benefits of improved communication between programme and unit staff would likely result in the same benefits as those seen through increasing training for unit staff – that is; improved operational work performance; better supervision practices; and an improved ability to reinforce the principles of the MTMO programme, and ultimately, better outcomes for young people. Nevertheless, more research is required to assess whether improved communication between treatment staff and unit staff does result in improved job performance, and even a decrease in recidivism.

A dedicated therapeutic unit

I think the difficulty I did hear from young people and staff was if there were dynamics between young people who had come from different units.

It has been suggested that the unit environment may be improved by providing staff with more training and better communication from the MTMO programme. To improve the unit environment further, some participants felt there needed to be a unit which solely housed those in the MTMO programme. When the MTMO programme began, all of the young people on the

programme were housed in one unit. However, as young people started being introduced into the programme, they were increasingly housed across different units. This process is described well by a facilitator:

Okay so, initially when [MTMO] started it was in one unit. That worked really really well. Once we kind of mixed things up as a residence in response to some of the issues we were having with young people, that group was split.

As the time progressed, those in the MTMO group were made up of young people from across multiple units. This created a number of issues for staff; both operationally and therapeutically. A facilitator and unit staff member stated:

It's easier for the staff [for young people to be housed in one unit] because then they are much more in tuned with what we are doing, what's in the sessions, it's easier to feedback to one unit staff than trying to spread yourself across three or four. So, you get, I think you get understanding and better buy in from the staff when you do it that way.

Resourcing wasn't thought about that well... when you've got an eight-bed unit and then seven of them are in the MTMO and one isn't, it's quite isolating for that one person. And then you've got two that are MTMO and six that aren't, you can see how the dynamics were continuously changing.

As stated, there are multiple benefits of housing all the young people in the MTMO within one unit. Firstly, the training, supervision, and communication between programme and can unit staff does not need to be given across all units, but just to those working in the MTMO unit. This may result in more intensive training services available for those unit staff members as there will be less staff to deliver the services to, resulting in better staff performance in their duties, and better outcomes for young people. Secondly, having a MTMO unit will likely result in a more supportive environment where the young people can encourage each other to make positive changes.

There is little research on this type of setup in a youth justice facility, however, close comparisons would be both therapeutic communities and the MJTC. The difference with both these examples is that all residents living in the facility receive rehabilitation services, rather than those in one unit. Therapeutic communities (TC) "includes both clients (residents) and staff as participants in the management and operation of a caring community to challenge antisocial and problematic behaviours and evoke psychological, social, and behavioural change" (Magor-Blatch, Bhullar, Thomson, & Thorsteinsson, 2014, p. 169). This type of community has similarities with what Van der Helm and colleagues refer to as an 'open group climate', which is a structured, safe, and therapeutic environment which fosters support, and a balance between control and flexibility (Van Der Helm et al., 2011). Importantly this open living group climate is associated with significantly more treatment motivation amongst adolescents living in secure facilities (van der Helm et al., 2014).

Within the MJTC, staff are given specialised training, and young people are rewarded for reinforcing the treatment principles included in the programme. Furthermore, the unit environment operates according to the 'decompression model', which looks to balance security and treatment approaches in an effort to facilitate change (Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2005). Traditionally, if a young person is acting aggressively in therapy or in the unit, they are isolated from the group and removed from therapy. However, according to the decompression model, this only serves to develop a cycle in which the young person is increasingly segregated and deviant which only reduces their involvement in treatment. Therefore, when a young person becomes aggressive within MJTC, behavioural principles are introduced to reinforce positive behaviour, as well as providing the young person with more individualised treatment (Caldwell & Van Rybroek, 2005).

To summarise, the MTMO programme would benefit from a unit which only contains those in the programme. Whether that is possible is another question. However, one unit staff member believed it would be: "Logistically, I think yes, it is possible, but it would be the logistics and getting a wider buy-in for it". However, the make-up of the unit is not enough on its own. The unit would benefit from having an open living climate to increase treatment motivation and to reinforce the principles of the MTMO programme. Achieving a therapeutic unit will also require staff to receive on-going specialised training, and regular open communication with the MTMO programme staff.

Staff Services

Services for unit staff have been discussed in the previous section. Unit staff would benefit from more training and improved communication with programme staff. The current theme of 'staff services' relates specifically to the programme staff. Staff services, such as training and supervision are crucial for maintaining treatment fidelity (Henggeler, Schoenwald, Liao, Letourneau, & Edwards, 2002), job satisfaction, and reducing staff burnout. Specifically, staff were asked about their previous experience, qualifications, training, and supervision (both clinical and cultural). They were also asked how they thought training and supervision practices could be improved. Within this theme, two sub-themes emerged: (a) increase facilitator training; and (b) increase facilitator supervision.

Increase facilitator training

Although the treatment of YPO has been efficacious, many are not effective. The difference of course being that those shown to be efficacious are tested under ideal conditions, with motivated adolescents, with highly-trained therapists, and high levels of programme

integrity (Stams & van der Helm, 2017). However, when these programmes are implemented in real-world settings, they often lack these qualities.

Within the MTMO programme, some facilitators felt they, themselves and/or their cofacilitators, did not have adequate training to effectively deliver the programme:

I kind of [have] an idea of what an effective therapeutic group looks like, or psychoeducational group looks like, so I kind of felt that my practice was unsafe in that setting.

No not really [I didn't receive training]. They basically just told me what the programme was about... I don't think I was set up that well. I didn't really receive much training before this programme.

...it probably would have been more ideal to have a trained facilitator.

As stated above, one facilitator felt that their practice was *unsafe*. This point is consistent with the idea that facilitators have a responsibility to provide the best possible care for their clients (Fairburn & Cooper, 2011). One facilitator who was already well-versed in delivering similar programmes to young people commented that the lack of a trained co-facilitator also negatively affected their own ability to facilitate: "I don't think actually the programme writing would have affected it [job performance] but all of the logistics would have, as well as all the extra work I had to do because I didn't have a trained facilitator". As one facilitator suggests, there is a trade-off between employing already-trained facilitators and providing intensive training to those already employed in the organisation: "Having somebody that has experience, and has the qualifications of and understanding of therapeutic process, such as a programme facilitator or... training could be useful, but it would be quite a lot of training".

Due to the differing levels of experience, it appears that some facilitators felt they had a greater need for training than others. Although two facilitators felt comfortable delivering a

treatment programme, they felt there needed to be specialised training in how to deliver therapy specifically to young people:

Defiantly, there is always room for more training... I think just, if I was given a material around the type of mindset, more on how to capture the young person, delivering that certain material.

I just feel like it's a very specialised area and you have to have the right skills, creativity to be able to deliver the same models you would with adults with young people or children. So, I don't feel that there's any difference in need, I think there should be difference in delivery and process.

Overall, it appears that facilitators felt that there was a need for more training, specifically on how to deliver to this youth population. In a review of 55 training services for psychosocial treatments, five commonly used training methods were analysed; reading treatment manuals and written materials, self-directed training techniques (e.g., web-training), workshops, pyramid training (e.g., train-the-trainers), and multi-component training (Herschell, Kolko, Baumann, & Davis, 2010). Firstly, it was found that there is little evidence to suggest reading written materials and/or attending workshops results in any positive, sustained outcomes (i.e., increases in skill and competence). This supports the thoughts of one facilitator who said the following:

I was given books, I was given manuals. But, you know, it is hard for me, like I'm not a big-time reader you know? I'm not going to read some material that I sometimes don't even understand what the hell it means.

Workshop attendance does not result in any increases in competence unless it is supported by workshop follow-ups (e.g., observation, feedback, consultation, and/or coaching). These follow-ups also appear to benefit outcomes for clients (Herschell et al., 2010). Self-directed training methods had mixed results and require further investigation. Although web-based training methods are cost-effective, convenient, and often well-liked by participants, evidence is not yet sufficient enough to support their effectiveness. The train-the-trainer model also has some mixed

results. There is some evidence of skills being 'watered-down' from supervisor to therapist, however, this model also requires further investigation. Not surprisingly, multi-component training packages were the most rigorously studies and were found to be the most effective training method. This method includes a combination of reading a treatment manual, multiple days of intensive workshop training, expert consultation, reviews of taped client sessions, supervisor trainings, and booster training sessions. It is difficult to conclude which combination of these work best, however, of the 21 studies, 19 showed positive outcomes (Herschell et al., 2010).

In general, well-trained facilitators have the ability to improve programme effectiveness and maintain fidelity. The majority of facilitators felt that more training was required – particularly in delivering a developmentally appropriate programme. Not only did poor training negatively impact on the practice of facilitators but it may have also created more work for cofacilitators. Research suggests that multi-component methods of training are most effective, but they are also the most resource-heavy.

Increase facilitator supervision

Not only did facilitators suggest improving training services, they also suggested the need for more supervision. Supervision can be defined as, "an intervention provided by a more senior member of a profession to a more junior member or members of that same profession. This relationship is evaluative, extends over time, and has the simultaneous purposes of enhancing the professional functioning of the more junior persons, monitoring the quality of professional services offered to the client, she, he or they see, and serving as a gatekeeper of those who are to enter the particular profession" (Bernard & Goodyear, 2004, p. 8).

Within the MTMO programme, there were mixed views about supervision practices. The reason for these mixed views were largely a result of facilitators being involved in the programme at differing time points. While the Department of Corrections' were managing the programme, thoughts on supervision appeared to be positive. For example, a facilitator said the following:

Yes, I did, and that was one thing that I really appreciated. Being in that role I actually got some supervision from people outside this place through Corrections. I felt like I was really supported in my role, kind of always looking at how they can support me, what I can work on... It met my needs one hundred percent because I was able to off load some of the things I wanted to talk about.

However, once OT took over the management of the programme, supervision appeared to worsen in quality and quantity. One of the facilitators stated the following: "To be honest, I didn't get anything after that. I felt that when things fell down, I didn't feel supported at all with the programme".

Traditionally, supervision has been separated into clinical and administrative supervision. Clinical supervision provides guidance on therapeutic techniques and methods, such as: self-report, log review, audio and video tape, live observation, role-playing, and co-counselling. While administrative supervision provides guidance on organisational and management issues, for example: in-service training, professional development, programme development, attendance, progress notes, caseload, fascial issues, and resource allocation (Barletta, 2009). This distinction is described by one facilitator:

I think that it was definitely supportive. As I was implementing a programme that hadn't been run before, it was helpful to have [supervisor] who was more about logistics, and organizational stuff, as well as [supervisor] who was more focused on supervision of the clinical work. That was really helpful to have that combination of people in the room so that both sides of it were always being monitored because there was a lot going on, on both sides.

In a programme which works with a diverse cultural make-up, cultural supervision is also an important consideration. The perspectives on cultural supervision appeared to be similar to that of clinical supervision: they were helpful when offered, but it needed to be offered more consistently:

Like we had cultural supervision, like that was, I never wanted that to end. Every time I went to a session, I was like, is it over already? You know, there was just so much I could have learnt. Just how to apply Māori kaupapa into the training.

Cultural supervision, probably, could have been more frequent to meet my needs more.

It was kind of like, well, do you receive cultural supervision? I know [facilitator] did, as a Māori I would still like to receive cultural supervision, you know?

There are many aims of supervision, and they include: (a) monitoring client safety and outcomes; (b) developing self-awareness and evaluation; (c) integrating theory, research, and skills; (d) ensuring ethical practice; (e) developing a sense of professional support; (f) encouraging an evidence-based approach; (g) clarifying work preferences and personal priorities; and (h) supporting self-care and ensuring well-being (Barletta, 2009). Put simply, supervision facilities more effective service delivery, as well as ensuring quality control for the employer and client. Supervision is of particular importance when a facilitator is lacking in experience and/or training – as was the case in some instances in the MTMO programme.

When asked about improving supervision practices, facilitators preferred external supervision over a co-worker:

I would prefer supervision from outside... Somebody that I can offload and actually feel that I'll get proper advice.

I have external supervision from a psychologist and I was attempting to provide [facilitator's] supervision which was kind of really difficult when you are also a facilitator with him.

The above issue was also discussed in the *dual role* section. Overall, many facilitators felt they could have benefited from more supervision – particularly cultural supervision. However, as in the *dual role* section, it was seen as important that the supervisor was not also the individual's co-facilitator.

General Discussion

This process evaluation aimed to describe the context, characteristics and operations of the MTMO programme; evaluate how well it met the needs of young people and whānau; evaluate its components; examine the working relationship between staff; evaluate the programme's operations and delivery; and identify possible areas of strength and improvement. Analysis of the data identified 28 sub-themes which were categorised into seven overarching themes.

Procedural Cascades

Although there was some discussion of how sub-themes were related to one another in the previous section, the extent of their interconnectedness has largely been untouched. The programme could be separated into two timelines; the first was when the programme was managed by the Department of Corrections, and the second was when management was passed on to Oranga Tamariki. There were opportunities to improve the programme while the Department of Corrections were involved, such as a more developmentally-appropriate programme manual, a consistent rolling group structure; a timelier assessment process; assessing readiness for treatment; more whānau involvement; an improved therapeutic unit. These issues continued under Oranga Tamariki, intensifying in some instances, while new issues also arose.

The majority of the areas for improvement within the MTMO programme could be attributed to under-resourcing through 'procedural cascades'. Similar to developmental cascades

(Masten & Cicchetti, 2010), I will define procedural cascades as changes in one area of an organisation which trigger a sequence of consequences that ultimately have large procedural effects. For example, if an organisation lacks team cohesion, this can lead to a lack of communication (i.e., poor sharing of information), which can result in staff being unaware of others' practices, styles, skills, or behaviours, leading to inconsistent service delivery, and contradictory administrative decisions.

Within the MTMO programme, inadequate resourcing in some cases trigged a series of consequences. Firstly, under-resourcing resulted in a lack of experienced staff working on the programme, and inadequate resources for staff. This led to OT relying on individuals to perform multiple roles. The dual-role negatively impacted the quality of supervision practices, and therapeutic alliance. Poor supervision resulted in staff feeling unsupported and may have worsened treatment delivery. The ultimate consequence of this could be poorer outcomes for young people.

A lack of resources also led to assessments being completed by only one facilitator (who had the relevant skills) who was also occupying a dual-role. As this individual was overworked, it may have resulted in poorer assessment quality (e.g., a lack of information related the young persons' systems), which may have decreased the capacity to individualise treatment. However, this assessor's dual-role also slowed down the assessment process, which resulted in longer waiting times for young people entering the programme, and a 'lag' in the allocation of bedding. The 'lag' resulted in all units having to take MTMO young people, which may have lowered the therapeutic benefits of the unit environment for these young people. Furthermore, waiting times also resulted in some young people going through the programme without having their needs met due to reduced time left on sentences and orders.

Under-resourcing also led to both poor transition plans and a lack of aftercare services, which lowered the support for young people, social workers, and whānau once the young people entered the community, which as suggested in the literature, would decrease the chances of desistance. Under-resourcing may also explain the lack of training for unit staff members. This lack of training resulted in a poor understanding of communication between unit staff and programme staff, problems in operational processes, and an inability to reinforce the MTMO programme in unit settings. Ultimately, under-resourcing triggered these problematic 'procedural cascades', which can contribute to poor or reduced outcomes for young people. Nevertheless, there are many positive features of the MTMO programme. The MTMO programme is the first of its kind in New Zealand, and provides a good starting point to build on for the future. Young people and staff generally spoke positively about the programme. However, study focuses mainly on areas for improvement as its intention is to achieve the best possible outcomes for young people.

Limitations

There are two key limitations to this research, however. Firstly, as the MTMO programme was not operating during the research process, it was not possible to observe the actual operations of the programme. Qualitative programme evaluations often include a combination of interviews, written documents, and direct observation (Patton, 2003). Direct observation includes "fieldwork descriptions of activates, behaviours, actions, conversations, interpersonal interactions, organisational or community processes, or any other aspect of observable experience" (Patton, 2003, p. 3). Without direct observation, the ability to triangulate the findings from written documents and interviews is lacking. For example, if a participant felt

that therapeutic alliance was a concern, this view could be triangulated through session observations.

A further caveat relates to the number of interviewees – particularly unit staff. Although data saturation appeared to be obtained with young people, facilitators, social workers, and caregivers; more unit staff members may have improved the credibility of the data from this group (Shento, 2004). As discussed above, under-resourcing appeared to be an issue of the MTMO programme, and potentially the residential facility itself. This may explain why after several attempts, only one unit staff member participant was obtained. When individuals are overworked, research becomes less of a concern. More unit staff members may have triangulated the findings, given different views on the programme to their colleagues, or provided new insights into the operations of the programme – all of which would have been useful.

Future Research and Applications

Nevertheless, the benefits of the research should not be ignored. An unexpected benefit was the amount of future research ideas that were identified. The results led to discussions in many areas of research, both theoretical and applied; highlighted the real need for understanding YPO's and their rehabilitation. Among others, this research called attention to understanding: the implicit theories of YPO's; the relationship between group cohesion and therapeutic changes for YPO's; the effectiveness of preparatory programmes for YPO's; assessing readiness for treatment with YPO's; and how effective release plans are for YPO's. This strength reflects the fertility of this study, and process evaluations more generally.

Consistent with the purposes of process evaluation, this study provided three main applications: explanations of a potential outcomes evaluation; avenues to improve the MTMO; and providing details for diffusion and dissemination of the programme (Patton, 2008). Secondly,

the results and discussion emphasise a range of strengths and weaknesses which were highlighted by stakeholders themselves. Where possible, the discussion also used literature to offer possible solutions to these issues for the programme's future development. These solutions may enlighten stakeholders in their attempt to make decisions about programme change (Owen, 2007). Relatedly, the results and discussion may inform the design of subsequent offender-based programmes for young people in New Zealand.

Conclusion

Overall, the findings of this study have provided some insight into how the MTMO programme could be improved for the future. Within the seven overarching themes, there were specific areas of strength to be built on, and improvements to be made. These areas are accompanied by both participant quotes and a review of the literature. Many of the emerging issues associated with the MTMO programme may be explained by under-resourcing, triggered through procedural cascades. This study highlights the need for future research in the rehabilitation of YPO; the need to evaluate the outcomes of young people who graduate from the MTMO programme; and how the MTMO programme may be best disseminated to other secure residential facilities.

References

- Altschuler, D. M., & Armstrong, T. L. (1998). Intensive juvenile aftercare as a public safety approach. *Corrections Today, 60*(4), 118-123.
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). *The psychology of criminal conduct* (5 ed.). New Province, NJ: Matthew Bender & Company.
- Armelius, B.-Å., & Andreassen, T. H. (2007). Cognitive-behavioral treatment for antisocial behavior in youth in residential treatment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005650.pub2
- Baglivio, M., & Jackowski, K. (2015). Evaluating the effectiveness of a victim impact intervention through the examination of changes in dynamic risk scores. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 26(1), 7-28. doi:10.1177/0887403413489706
- Baglivio, M. T., Jackowski, K., Greenwald, M. A., & Howell, J. C. (2014). Serious, violent, and chronic juvenile offenders. *Criminology & Public Policy*, *13*(1), 83-116. doi:10.1111/1745-9133.12064
- Baker, K., Kelly, G., & Wilkinson, B. (2011). *Assessment in youth justice*. Bristol, UK: The Policy Press.
- Barber, J. P., Gallop, R., Crits-Christoph, P., Frank, A., Thase, M. E., Weiss, R. D., & Beth Connolly Gibbons, M. (2006). The role of therapist adherence, therapist competence, and alliance in predicting outcome of individual drug counseling: Results from the National Institute Drug Abuse Collaborative Cocaine Treatment Study. *Psychotherapy Research*, 16(2), 229-240. doi:10.1080/10503300500288951

Barletta, J. (2009). Introduction to clinical supervision. In P. Armstrong, J. Barletta, & N. Pelling (Eds.), *The practice of clinical supervision* (pp. 5-22). Bowen Hills, Queensland, Australia: Australian Academic Press.

- Barnao, M., Ward, T., & Casey, S. (2015). Taking the good life to the institution. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 60*(7), 766-786. doi:10.1177/0306624X15570027
- Becroft, A. (May, 2004). *Youth Justice in New Zealand: Future Challenges*. Paper presented at the New Zealand Youth Justice Conference, Wellington. Retrieved from http://www.lbctnz.co.nz/resources/justice/yj in nz becroft paper.pdf
- Bernard, J. M., & Goodyear, R. K. (2004). *Fundementals of clinical supervision* (3rd ed.). Harlow, United Kingdom: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Berzins, L. G., & Trestman, R. L. (2004). The development and implementation of dialectical behavior therapy in forensic settings. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 3(1), 93-103. doi:10.1080/14999013.2004.10471199
- Borduin, C. M., & Schaeffer, C. M. (2001). Multisystemic treatment of juvenile sexual offenders:

 A progress report. *Journal of Psychology & Human Sexuality, 13*(3-4), 25-42.

 doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J056v13n03_03
- Borum, R. (2000). Assessing violence risk among youth. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *56*(10), 1263-1288. doi:10.1002/1097-4679(200010)56:10<1263::AID-JCLP3>3.0.CO;2-D
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. Thousand Oaks, Caliafornia: Sage.

Braaten, L. J. (1989). Predicting positive goal attainment and symptom reduction from early group climate dimensions. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, *39*(3), 377-387. doi:10.1080/00207284.1989.11491175

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brogan, L., Haney-Caron, E., NeMoyer, A., & DeMatteo, D. (2015). Applying the Risk-Needs-Responsivity (RNR) model to juvenile justice. *Criminal Justice Review, 40*(3), 277-302. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0734016814567312
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1992). Ecological systems theory. In R. Vasta (Ed.), *Six theories of child development: Revised formulations and current issues* (pp. 187-249). London, England: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Caldwell, M. F., & Van Rybroek, G. (2013). Effective treatment programs for violent adolescents: Programmatic challenges and promising features. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *18*(5), 571-578. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2013.06.004
- Caldwell, M. F., & Van Rybroek, G. J. (2005). Reducing violence in serious juvenile offenders using intensive treatment. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 28(6), 622-636. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2004.07.001
- Calvete, E., & Orue, I. (2010). Cognitive schemas and aggressive behavior in adolescents: The mediating role of social information processing. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology,* 13(1), 190-201. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600003772
- Campbell, C., Onifade, E., Barnes, A., Peterson, J., Anderson, V., Davidson, W., & Gordon, D. (2014). Screening offenders: The exploration of a Youth Level of Service/Case

- Management Inventory (YLS/CMI) Brief Screener. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 53(1), 19-34. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2013.861314
- Carr, C. J. A., Xu, J., Redko, C., Lane, D. T., Rapp, R. C., Goris, J., & Carlson, R. G. (2008).
 Individual and system influences on waiting time for substance abuse treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 34(2), 192-201.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2007.03.005
- Carron, A. V. (1982). Cohesiveness in sport groups: Interpretations and Considerations. *Journal of Sport Psychology*, 4(2), 123-138. doi:10.1123/jsp.4.2.123
- Chassin, L. (2008). Juvenile justice and substance use. *The Future of Children*, 18(2), 165-183. doi:10.1353/foc.0.0017
- Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). *Getting to outcomes 2004: Promoting accountability through methods and tools for planning, implementation, and evaluation.*Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social information-processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychological Bulletin*, *115*(1), 74-101. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.115.1.74
- Davidson, M. A. (1997). The effects of a pre-therapy information audiotape on client satisfaction, anxiety level, expectations, and symptom reduction. (Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation), Andrews University. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.andrews.edu/dissertations/321/
- Day, A., & Casey, S. (2011). *Youth justice outcomes measurement and reporting* Melbourne, Victoria: Victorian Department of Human Services, Youth Justice and Youth Services Branch.

Day, A., & Casey, S. (2012). Assessing client outcomes in youth justice services: Current status and future directions *Journal of juvenile justice*, *I*(2), 113-127.

- Day, A., Howells, K., & Rickwood, D. (2004). *Current trends in the rehabilitation of juvenile offenders* (284). Retrieved from Australian Institute of Criminology:

 http://library.bsl.org.au/jspui/bitstream/1/582/1/Current trends rehab.pdf
- De Castro, B. O., Veerman, J. W., Koops, W., Bosch, J. D., & Monshouwer, H. J. (2002). Hostile attribution of intent and aggressive behavior: A meta-analysis. *Child Development*, 73(3), 916-934. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00447
- de Vries Robbé, M., Geers, M. C. K., Stapel, M., Hilterman, E. L. B., & de Vogel, V. (2015).

 SAPROF Youth version. Structured Assessment of Protective Factors for violence risk Youth Version. Guidelines for the assessment of protective factors for violence risk in juveniles. Utrecht, The Netherlands Can der Hoeven Kliniek.
- Dehar, M.-A., Casswell, S., & Duignan, P. (1993). Formative and process evaluation of health promotion and disease prevention programs. *Evaluation Review, 17*(2), 204-220. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0193841X9301700205
- Dickson, S. R., & Polaschek, D. L. L. (2014). Planning to avoid risk or planning for a positive life: The relationship between release plan valence and reoffending. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 58(12), 1431-1448. doi:10.1177/0306624X13502631
- Dickson, S. R., Polaschek, D. L. L., & Casey, A. R. (2013). Can the quality of high-risk violent prisoners' release plans predict recidivism following intensive rehabilitation? A comparison with risk assessment instruments. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 19*(4), 371-389. doi:10.1080/1068316X.2011.640634

Dishion, T. J., McCord, J., & Poulin, F. (1999). When interventions harm: Peer groups and problem behavior. *American Psychologist*, *54*(9), 755-764. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.54.9.755

- Dodge, K. A. (1986). A social information processing model of social competence in children. InM. Perlmutter (Ed.), *Minnesota symposium on child psychology* (Vol. 18, pp. 77-125).Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Dodge, K. A., Dishion, T. J., & Lansford, J. E. (2006). *Deviant peer influences in intervention and public policy for youth* (1075-7031). Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED521749
- Dowden, C., & Andrews, D. A. (2004). The importance of staff practice in delivering effective correctional treatment: A meta-analytic review of core correctional practice. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 48*(2), 203-214. doi:10.1177/0306624x03257765
- Durie, M. (1994). *Whaiora: Māori health development*. Auckland, New Zealand: Oxford University Press.
- Durlak, J. A., & DuPre, E. P. (2008). Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41(3-4), 327-350. doi:10.1007/s10464-008-9165-0
- Fairburn, C. G., & Cooper, Z. (2011). Therapist competence, therapy quality, and therapist training. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(6), 373-378. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.03.005

Field, S. (2007). Practice cultures and the 'new' youth justice in England and Wales. *The British Journal of Criminology, 47*(2), 311-330. doi:10.1093/bjc/azl088

- Fivush, R., Marin, K., Crawford, M., Reynolds, M., & Brewin, C. R. (2007). Children's narratives and well-being. *Cognition and Emotion*, 21(7), 1414-1434. doi:10.1080/02699930601109531
- Fortune, C.-A. (2017). The Good Lives Model: A strength-based approach for youth offenders.

 Aggression and Violent Behavior, 38, 21-30.

 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2017.11.003
- Fortune, C.-A., Ward, T., & Print, B. (2014). Integrating the Good Lives Model with relapse prevention: Working with juvenile sex offenders In W. T. O'Donohue (Ed.), *Toolkit for working with juvenile sex offenders* (pp. 405-426). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Fortune, C.-A., Ward, T., & Willis, G. M. (2012). The rehabilitation of offenders: Reducing risk and promoting better lives. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 19*(5), 646-661. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13218719.2011.615809
- Fox, B. H., Perez, N., Cass, E., Baglivio, M. T., & Epps, N. (2015). Trauma changes everything: Examining the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and serious, violent and chronic juvenile offenders. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *46*, 163-173. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.011
- Frize, M., Kenny, D., & Lennings, C. (2008). The relationship between intellectual disability, Indigenous status and risk of reoffending in juvenile offenders on community orders.

 **Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52(6), 510-519. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2008.01058.x*

Gašević, G. R. (2015). The challenges of creating the treatment readiness scale for youths taking part in mandatory psychosocial counseling. *Children and Youth Services Review, 54*, 8-19. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.04.011

- Gibson, W., & Brown, A. (2009). Working with qualitative data. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Glass, J. S., & Benshoff, J. M. (2002). Facilitating group cohesion among adolescents through challenge course experiences. *Journal of Experiential Education*, *25*(2), 268-277. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/105382590202500204
- Gluckman, P. (2013). The role of evidence in policy formation and implementation: A report from the Prime Minister's Chief Science Advisor Wellington: Office of the Prime Minister's Science Advisory Committee Retrieved from http://www.pmcsa.org.nz/wpcontent/uploads/The-role-of-evidence-in-policy-formation-and-implementation-report.pdf.
- Glynn, T., Atvars, K., Furlong, M., Davies, M., Rogers, S., & Teddy, N. (1992). From pause prompt praise to tatari tautoko tauawhi: A bicultural process of adaptation. Paper presented at the Inaugural Conference of the Special Education Service, Dunedin, New Zealand
- Goense, P. B., Assink, M., Stams, G.-J., Boendermaker, L., & Hoeve, M. (2016). Making 'what works' work: A meta-analytic study of the effect of treatment integrity on outcomes of evidence-based interventions for juveniles with antisocial behavior. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 31, 106-115. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2016.08.003
- Goldstein, A. P., Glick, B., & Gibbs, J. C. (1998). Aggression replacement training: A comprehensive intervention for aggression youth (Rev ed.). Champaign, IL: Research Press.

Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., Loeber, R., & Henry, D. B. (1998). Relation of family problems to patterns of delinquent involvement among urban youth. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 26(5), 319-333. doi:10.1023/a:1021995621302

- Granic, I., & Patterson, G. R. (2006). Toward a comprehensive model of antisocial development:

 A dynamic systems approach. *Psychological Review, 113*(1), 101-131. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.113.1.101
- Grisso, T. (1997). The competence of adolescents as trial defendants. *Psychology, Public Policy,* and Law, 3(1), 3-32. doi:10.1037/1076-8971.3.1.3
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M., & Namey, E. E. (2011). *Applied thematic analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Habermas, T., & Bluck, S. (2000). Getting a life: The emergence of the life story in adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin, 126*(5), 748-769. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.126.5.748
- Hamilton, Z., Campagna, M., Tollefsbol, E., van Wormer, J., & Barnoski, R. (2017). A more consistent application of the RNR model. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(2), 261-292. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093854816678032
- Hayden, E. P., & Mash, E. J. (2014). Child psychopathology: A developmental-systems perspective In E. J. Mash & R. A. Barkley (Eds.), *Child psychopathology* (3 ed., pp. 3-74). New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Hayes, S. C., & Hofmann, S. G. (2017). The third wave of cognitive behavioral therapy and the rise of process based care. *World Psychiatry*, 16(3), 245-246. doi:10.1002/wps.20442
- Hayles, M. (2006). Constructing safety: a collaborative approach to managing risk and building responsibility. In K. Gorman, M. Gregory, M. Hayles, & N. Parton (Eds.), *Constructive work with offenders* (pp. 67-86). London: Jessica Kingsley.

Henggeler, S. W. (1989). *Delinquency in adolescence* (Vol. 18). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Henggeler, S. W., Schoenwald, S. K., Borduin, C. M., Rowland, M. D., & Cunningham, P. B. (2009). *Multisystemic therapy for antisocial behavior in children and adolescents* (2 ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Henggeler, S. W., Schoenwald, S. K., Liao, J. G., Letourneau, E. J., & Edwards, D. L. (2002).

 Transporting efficacious treatments to field settings: The link between supervisory practices and therapist fidelity in MST programs. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 31(2), 155-167. doi:10.1207/S15374424JCCP3102 02
- Herschell, A. D., Kolko, D. J., Baumann, B. L., & Davis, A. C. (2010). The role of therapist training in the implementation of psychosocial treatments: A review and critique with recommendations. *Clinical Psychology Review, 30*(4), 448-466. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.02.005
- Hilterman, E. L., Nicholls, T. L., & van Nieuwenhuizen, C. (2014). Predictive validity of risk assessments in juvenile offenders: Comparing the SAVRY, PCL: YV, and YLS/CMI with unstructured clinical assessments. *Assessment*, 21(3), 324-339. doi:10.1177/1073191113498113
- Himmelman, A. T. (1996). Collaboration and the three T's: Time, trust, and turf constraints. *Health System Leader, 3*(10), 13-16.
- Hoge, R. D. (2002). Standardized instruments for assessing risk and need in youthful offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 29*(4), 380-396. doi:10.1177/009385480202900403
- Hoge, R. D., & Andrews, D. A. (2002). The Youth Level of Service/Case Management Inventory manual and scoring key. Toronto, ON: Multi-Health Systems

Hoge, R. D., & Andrews, D. A. (2011). Youth Level of Service/case Management Inventory 2.0 (YLS/CMI 2.0): User's manual. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.

- Hoge, R. D., Guerra, N., & Boxer, P. (2008). *Treating the juvenile offender*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hollin, C. R. (2004). Aggression replacement training: The cognitive-behavioural context. In A.
 P. Goldstein, R. Nensen, B. Daleflod, & M. Kalt (Eds.), New perspectives on aggression replacement training: Practice, research and application (pp. 51-72). Chichester, UK:
 John Wiley.
- Hollin, C. R. (2006). Offending behaviour programmes and contention: Evidence-based practice,
 manuals, and programme evaluation. In C. R. Hollin & J. P. Palmer (Eds.), *Offending* behaviour programmes: Development, application, and controversies (pp. 33-67). West
 Sussex, England John Wiley & Sons.
- Hoogsteder, L. M., Stams, G. J. J. M., Figge, M. A., Changoe, K., van Horn, J. E., Hendriks, J.,
 & Wissink, I. B. (2015). A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of individually oriented
 Cognitive Behavioral Treatment (CBT) for severe aggressive behavior in adolescents.
 The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology, 26(1), 22-37.
 doi:10.1080/14789949.2014.971851
- Horvath, A. O., & Luborsky, L. (1993). The role of the therapeutic alliance in psychotherapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 61*(4), 561-573. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.61.4.561
- Howard, P. (2009). *Improving the prediction of re-offending using the offender assessment system*. London: Ministry of Justice. Retrieved from

http://www.cjp.org.uk/publications/archive/offender-assessment-system-and-offender-group-reconviction-scale-research-summaries-24-03-2009/.

- Huefner, J. C., Pick, R. M., Smith, G. L., Stevens, A. L., & Mason, W. A. (2015). Parental involvement in residential care: Distance, frequency of contact, and youth outcomes.
 Journal of Child and Family Studies, 24(5), 1481-1489. doi:10.1007/s10826-014-9953-0
- Huesmann, L. R. (1998). The role of social information processing and cognitive schema in the acquisition and maintenance of habitual aggressive behavior. In R. G. Geen & E. Donnerstein (Eds.), *Human aggression: Theories, research, and implications for social policy* (pp. 73-109): Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Hughes, N., Williams, H., Chitsabesan, P., Davies, R., & Mounce, L. (2012). Nobody made the connection: The prevalence of neurodisability in young people who offend. Retrieved from Office of the Children's Commisioner's website:
 http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/16045/1/Neurodisability_Report_FINAL_UPDATED__01_11_12.pd
 f
- James, C., Stams, G. J. J. M., Asscher, J. J., De Roo, A. K., & der Laan, P. H. v. (2013). Aftercare programs for reducing recidivism among juvenile and young adult offenders: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*(2), 263-274. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.10.013
- Johns, D. F., Williams, K., & Haines, K. (2016). Ecological youth justice: Understanding the social ecology of young peoples prolific offending. *Youth Justice*, *17*(1), 3-21. doi:10.1177/1473225416665611
- Kilgour, G., & Borg, J. (2016). Mauri Tu, Mauri Ora: An offence focused programme for high risk youth Vol. 1. Practice: The New Zealand Corrections Journal (pp. 27-32). Retrieved

from

http://www.corrections.govt.nz/resources/research_and_statistics/journal/volume_4_issue _1_august_2016/mauri_tu%2C_mauri_ora_an_offence_focussed_programme_for_high_r isk_youth.html

- Ladany, N., Hill, C. E., Corbett, M. M., & Nutt, E. A. (1996). Nature, extent, and importance of what psychotherapy trainees do not disclose to their supervisors. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 43(1), 10-24. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.43.1.10
- Lakin, B. L., Brambila, A. D., & Sigda, K. B. (2004). Parental involvement as a factor in the readmission to a residential treatment center. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 22(2), 37-52. doi:10.1300/J007v22n02_03
- Lansford, J. E., Malone, P. S., Dodge, K. A., Crozier, J. C., Pettit, G. S., & Bates, J. E. (2006). A 12-year prospective study of patterns of social information processing problems and externalizing behaviors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 34*(5), 709-718. doi:10.1007/s10802-006-9057-4
- Lipsey, M. W. (2009). The primary factors that characterize effective interventions with juvenile offenders: A meta-analytic overview. *Victims & Offenders*, *4*(2), 124-147. doi:10.1080/15564880802612573
- Lipsey, M. W., Howell, J. C., Kelly, M. R., Chapman, G., & Carver, D. (2010). *Improving the effectiveness of juvenile justice programs: A new perspective on evidence-based practice*.

 Retrieved from National Juvenile Justice Network website: http://njjn.org/uploads/digital-library/CJJR_Lipsey_Improving-Effectiveness-of-Juvenile-Justice_2010.pdf

Livesley, W. J. (2012). Integrated treatment: A conceptual framework for an evidence-based approach to the treatment of personality disorder. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 26(1), 17-42. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2012.26.1.17

- Luong, D., & Wormith, J. S. (2011). Applying risk/need assessment to probation practice and its impact on the recidivism of young offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *38*(12), 1177-1199. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093854811421596
- Lynch, N. (2016). *Youth justice in New Zealand* (2 ed.). Wellington, New Zealand: Thomson Reuters.
- Magor-Blatch, L., Bhullar, N., Thomson, B., & Thorsteinsson, E. (2014). A systematic review of studies examining effectiveness of therapeutic communities. *Therapeutic Communities:*The International Journal of Therapeutic Communities, 35(4), 168-184. doi:10.1108/TC-07-2013-0024
- Marshall, L. E., Marshall, W. L., Fernandez, Y. M., Malcolm, P. B., & Moulden, H. M. (2008). The Rockwood preparatory program for sexual offenders: Description and preliminary appraisal. *Sexual Abuse*, 20(1), 25-42. doi:10.1177/1079063208314818
- Marshall, L. E., & Moulden, H. M. (2006). Preparatory programs for sexual offenders. In W. L. Marshall, Y. M. Fernandez, L. E. Marshall, & G. A. Serran (Eds.), *Sexual offender treatment: Controversial issues* (pp. 199-210). Chichester, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Marshall, W. L., & Burton, D. L. (2010). The importance of group processes in offender treatment. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *15*(2), 141-149. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2009.08.008
- Marshall, W. L., Marshall, L. E., Serran, G. A., & Fernandez, Y. M. (2006). *Treating sexual offenders: An integrated approach*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Marshall, W. L., & Serran, G. A. (2004). The role of the therapist in offender treatment.

*Psychology, Crime & Law, 10(3), 309-320. doi:10.1080/10683160410001662799

- Mash, E. J., & Dozois, D. J. A. (2003). Child psychopathology: A developmental-systems perspective. In E. J. M. R. A. Barkley (Ed.), *Child psychopathology* (3 ed., pp. 3-71). New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Masten, A. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Developmental cascades. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 491-495. doi:10.1017/S0954579410000222
- Mathys, C. (2017). Effective components of interventions in juvenile justice facilities: How to take care of delinquent youths? *Children and Youth Services Review, 73*, 319-327. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.01.007
- Mayerson, N. H. (1984). Preparing clients for group therapy: A critical review and theoretical formulation. *Clinical Psychology Review, 4*(2), 191-213. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7358(84)90028-X
- McCulloch, A., & McMurran, M. (2007). The features of a good offender treatment programme manual: A Delphi survey of experts. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 13*(3), 265-274. doi:10.1080/10683160600822071
- McLean, K. C., & Mansfield, C. D. (2011). To reason or not to reason: Is autobiographical reasoning always beneficial? *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development,* 2011(131), 85-97. doi:10.1002/cd.291
- McMurran, M. (2002). Motivation to change: Selection criterion or treatment need? In M.

 McMurran (Ed.), *Motivating offenders to change: A guide to enhancing engagement in therapy* (pp. 3-13). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons

McMurran, M., & Ward, T. (2010). Treatment readiness, treatment engagement and behaviour change. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 20(2), 75-85. doi:10.1002/cbm.762

- Millon, T., & Davis, R. D. (1993). The Millon Adolescent Personality Inventory and the Millon Adolescent Clinical Inventory. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 71(5), 570-574. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.1993.tb02244.x
- Moffitt, T. E. (1993). Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: A developmental taxonomy. *Psychological Review, 100*(4), 674-701. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.100.4.674
- MOJ. (2010). Child and youth offending statistics: An overview of child and youth offending statistics in New Zealand: 1992 to 2008. Retrieved from Wellington:

 https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/Child-and-Youth-Offending-Statistics-1992-2008-Statistical-Bulletin.pdf
- MOJ. (2012). *Trends in child and youth prosecutions in New Zealand*. Retrieved from Wellington: https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/Trends-in-child-and-youth-prosecutions-in-New-Zealand-2002-2011.pdf
- MOJ. (2017). *Trends in child and youth prosecutions*. Retrieved from Wellington: https://www.justice.govt.nz/assets/Documents/Publications/Trends-in-child-and-youth-prosecution-Dec-2016.pdf
- Morris, A., & Maxwell, G. M. (1993). Juvenile justice in New Zealand: A new paradigm.

 *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology, 26(1), 72-90.

 doi:10.1177/000486589302600108

Mossière, A., & Serin, R. (2014). A critique of models and measures of treatment readiness in offenders. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 19(4), 383-389. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2014.06.004

- Muran, J. C., Segal, Z. V., Samstag, L. W., & Crawford, C. E. (1994). Patient pretreatment interpersonal problems and therapeutic alliance in short-term cognitive therapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62(1), 185-190. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.62.1.185
- Naar-King, S., & Suarez, M. (2011). *Motivational interviewing with adolescents and young adults*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Oranga Tamariki Act, No. 24. (1989). Retrieved from http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1989/0024/latest/DLM147088.html
- Orlinsky, D. E., & Rønnestad, M. H. (2005). *How psychotherapists develop: A study of therapeutic work and professional growth*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Owen, J. M. (2007). *Program Evaluation: Forms and Approaches*. New York: NY: The Guilford Press.
- Pasalich, D. S., Dadds, M. R., Hawes, D. J., & Brennan, J. (2012). Attachment and callous-unemotional traits in children with early-onset conduct problems. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *53*(8), 838-845. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02544.x
- Patterson, G. R. (1976). The aggressive child: Victim and architect of a coercive system. In E. J. Mash, L. A. Hamerlynck, & L. C. Handy (Eds.), *Behavior modification and families* (pp. 267-316). New York, NY: Brunner/Mazel.

Patterson, G. R., DeBaryshe, B., & Ramsey, E. (1990). A developmental perspective on antisocial behaviour. *American Psychologist*, *44*, 329-335. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.44.2.329

- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2003). Qualitative evaluation checklist. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.135.8668&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Patton, M. Q. (2008). *Utilization-focused evaluation* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2010). Utilization-focused evaluation for social services and social work. *Revista de Asistență Socială*, (4), 11-27. Retrieved from https://www.ceeol.com/search/articledetail?id=101421
- Pazaratz, D. (2000). Training youth workers in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 18(1), 35-56. doi:10.1300/J007v18n01 03
- Pazaratz, D. (2003). Skills training for managing disturbed adolescents in a residential treatment program. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 8(1), 119-130. doi:10.1177/1359104503008001011
- Pearson, M., & Wilson, H. (2012). Soothing spaces and healing places: Is there an ideal counselling room design? Retrieved from https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn=317122780048316
- Peterson-Badali, M., Skilling, T., & Haqanee, Z. (2015). Examining implementation of risk assessment in case management for youth in the justice system. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 42(3), 304-320. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0093854814549595

Polaschek, D. L. L., Calvert, S. W., & Gannon, T. A. (2009). Linking violent thinking: Implicit theory-based research with violent offenders. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *24*(1), 75-96. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0886260508315781

- Reilly, M. P. J. (2010). Tuakana–Teina relationship and leadership in ancient mangaia and Aotearoa. *The Journal of Pacific History*, 45(2), 211-227. doi:10.1080/00223344.2010.501698
- Robertson, M. D., & Walter, G. (2008). Many faces of the dual-role dilemma in psychiatric ethics. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42(3), 228-235. doi:10.1080/00048670701827291
- Robst, J., Armstrong, M., Dollard, N., Rohrer, L., Sharrock, P., Batsche, C., & Reader, S. (2013).

 Characteristics related to family involvement in youth residential mental health treatment.

 Children and Youth Services Review, 35(1), 40-46.

 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.10.004
- Rochford, T. (2004). Whare Tapa Wha: A mäori model of a unified theory of health. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 25(1), 41-57. doi:10.1023/B:JOPP.0000039938.39574.9e
- Ross, E. C., Polaschek, D. L. L., & Ward, T. (2008). The therapeutic alliance: A theoretical revision for offender rehabilitation. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *13*(6), 462-480. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2008.07.003
- Salekin, R. T. (2002). Factor-analysis of the Millon Adolescent Clinical Inventory in a juvenile offender population. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *34*(3), 15-29. doi:10.1300/J076v34n03 02

Schmidt, F., Campbell, M. A., & Houlding, C. (2011). Comparative analyses of the YLS/CMI, SAVRY, and PCL:YV in adolescent offenders: A 10-year follow-up into adulthood. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, *9*(1), 23-42. doi:doi:10.1177/1541204010371793

- Sharon, C., Andrew, D., Kevin, H., & Tony, W. (2007). Assessing suitability for offender rehabilitation: Development and validation of the treatment readiness questionnaire. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 34(11), 1427-1440. doi:10.1177/0093854807305827
- Shento, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects.

 **Education for Information, 22(2), 63-75. Retrieved from http://helicon.vuw.ac.nz/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&d b=iih&AN=13857302&site=ehost-live
- Snow, P. C., & Powell, M. B. (2008). Oral language competence, social skills and high-risk boys: What are juvenile offenders trying to tell us? *Children & Society, 22*(1), 16-28. doi:10.1111/j.1099-0860.2006.00076.x
- Souverein, F. A., Van der Helm, G. H. P., & Stams, G. J. J. M. (2013). 'Nothing works' in secure residential youth care? *Children and Youth Services Review, 35*(12), 1941-1945. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.09.010
- Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Dillion, J. (2003). *Quality in qualitative evaluation: A framework for assessing research evidence*. Retrieved from National Centre for Social Research website: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-social-research-framework-for-assessing-research-evidence
- Spier, P., & Sun, H. (2016). Reoffending patterns for recipients of Youth Court supervision orders: 2015 update. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development. Retrieved from https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/child-

- and-youth-offending-patterns/index.html#ReoffendingpatternsforparticipantsofyouthjusticeFamilyGroupConfe rencersquosheldin2011and20122.
- Stams, G. J., & van der Helm, P. (2017). What works in residential programs for aggressive and violent youth? In P. Sturmey (Ed.), *The Wiley handbook of violence and aggression* (pp. 1-12). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Sunseri, P. A. (2001). The prediction of unplanned discharge from residential treatment. *Child* and Youth Care Forum, 30(5), 283-303. doi:10.1023/a:1014477327436
- Tahhan, J., Pierre, J. S., Stewart, S. L., Leschied, A. W., & Cook, S. (2010). Families of children with serious emotional disorder: Maternal reports on the decision and impact of their child's placement in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*, 27(3), 191-213. doi:10.1080/0886571X.2010.500956
- Thornberry, T. P., Huizinga, D., & Loeber, R. (1995). The prevention of serious delinquency and violence. In J. C. Howell, J. D. B. Krisberg, Hawkins, & J. J. Wilson (Eds.), *Serious, violent & chronic juvenile offenders* (pp. 213-237). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Thorne, A., & McLean, K. C. (2003). Telling traumatic events in adolescence: A study of master narrative positioning. In R. Fivush & C. A. Haden (Eds.), *Autobiographical memory and the construction of a narrative self: Developmental and cultural perspectives* (pp. 169-185). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Torrie, R., Dalgety, M., Peace, R., Roorda, M., & Bailey, R. (2015). Finding our way: Cultural competence and Pakeha evaluators. *Evaluation Matters He Take Tō Te Aromatawai*, *1*(1), 47-81. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.18296/em.0004

Van Der Helm, G. H. P., Stams, G. J. J. M., & van der Laan, A. (2011). Measuring group climate in a forensic setting. *The Prison Journal*, *91*(2), 158-176. doi:10.1177/0032885511403595

- van der Helm, P., Beunk, L., Stams, G.-J., & van der Laan, P. (2014). The relationship between detention length, living group climate, coping, and treatment motivation among juvenile delinquents in a youth correctional facility. *The Prison Journal*, *94*(2), 260-275. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0032885514524884
- van der Laan, A., & Eichelsheim, V. (2013). Juvenile adaptation to imprisonment: Feelings of safety, autonomy and well-being, and behaviour in prison. *European Journal of Criminology*, 10(4), 424-443. doi:10.1177/1477370812473530
- Van Ryzin, M. J., & Dishion, T. J. (2013). From antisocial behavior to violence: A model for the amplifying role of coercive joining in adolescent friendships. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *54*(6), 661-669. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12017
- VanBenschoten, S. (2008). Risk/needs assessment: Is this the best we can do? *Federal Probation*, 72(2), 38-42.
- Vieira, T. A., Skilling, T. A., & Peterson-Badali, M. (2009). Matching court-ordered services with treatment needs. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*(4), 385-401. doi:10.1177/0093854808331249
- Vincent, G. M., Guy, L. S., Gershenson, B. G., & McCabe, P. (2012). Does risk assessment make a difference? Results of implementing the SAVRY in juvenile probation. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 30(4), 384-405. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bsl.2014

Vincent, G. M., Perrault, R. T., Guy, L. S., & Gershenson, B. G. (2012). Developmental issues in risk assessment: Implications for juvenile justice. *Victims & Offenders*, 7(4), 364-384. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2012.713900

- Ward, T. (2000). Sexual offenders' cognitive distortions as implicit theories. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *5*(5), 491-507. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-1789(98)00036-6
- Ward, T. (2013). Addressing the dual relationship problem in forensic and correctional practice.

 Aggression and Violent Behavior, 18(1), 92-100.

 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2012.10.006
- Ward, T., & Fortune, C.-A. (2016). From dynamic risk factors to causal processes: A methodological framework. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 22*(1-2), 190-202. doi:10.1080/1068316X.2015.1117080
- Ward, T., & Gannon, T. A. (2006). Rehabilitation, etiology, and self-regulation: The comprehensive Good Lives Model of treatment for sexual offenders. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 11(1), 77-94. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2005.06.001
- Ward, T., Melser, J., & Yates, P. M. (2007). Reconstructing the Risk–Need–Responsivity model:

 A theoretical elaboration and evaluation. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 12(2), 208228. doi:http://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2006.07.001
- Ward, T., & Stewart, C. A. (2003). The treatment of sex offenders: Risk management and good lives. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *34*(4), 353-360. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0735-7028.34.4.353
- Ware, J., & Bright, D. A. (2008). Evolution of a treatment programme for sex offenders: Changes to the NSW Custody-Based Intensive Treatment (CUBIT). *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 15*(2), 340-349. doi:10.1080/13218710802014543

Weisz, J. R., Kuppens, S., Eckshtain, D., Ugueto, A. M., Hawley, K. M., & Jensen-Doss, A. (2013). Performance of evidence-based youth psychotherapies compared with usual clinical care: A multilevel meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(7), 750-761. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1176

- Westin, A. M. L., Barksdale, C. L., & Stephan, S. H. (2014). The effect of waiting time on youth engagement to evidence based treatments. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *50*(2), 221-228. doi:10.1007/s10597-012-9585-z
- Whitehead, P. R., Ward, T., & Collie, R. M. (2007). Time for a change. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *51*(5), 578-598.

 doi:10.1177/0306624X06296236
- Whyte, B. (2009). Youth justice in practice: Making a difference. Bristol, UK: The Policy Press.
- Williams, M. E., Latta, J., & Conversano, P. (2008). Eliminating the wait for mental health services. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, *35*(1), 107-114. doi:10.1007/s11414-007-9091-1
- Willis, G. M., & Grace, R. C. (2008). The quality of community reintegration planning for child molesters: effects on sexual recidivism. *Sexual Abuse*, 20(2), 218-240. doi:10.1177/1079063208318005
- Willis, G. M., & Grace, R. C. (2009). Assessment of community reintegration planning for sex offenders: Poor planning predicts recidivism. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*(5), 494-512. doi:10.1177/0093854809332874
- Willis, G. M., & Ward, T. (2011). Striving for a good life: The good lives model applied to released child molesters. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 17(3), 290-303. doi:10.1080/13552600.2010.505349

Willis, G. M., & Ward, T. (2013). The Good Lives Model: Evidence that it works. In L. Craig, L. Dixon, & T. A. Gannon (Eds.), *What works in offender rehabilitation: An evidence based approach to assessment and treatment* (pp. 305-318). West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons.

- Willis, G. M., Yates, P. M., Gannon, T. A., & Ward, T. (2013). How to integrate the Good Lives Model into treatment programs for sexual offending: An introduction and overview. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 25(2), 123-142. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1079063212452618
- Wilson, G. T. (1996). Manual-based treatments: The clinical application of research findings. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 34*(4), 295-314. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(95)00084-4
- Wylie, L. A., & Griffin, H. L. (2013). G-map's application of the Good Lives Model to adolescent males who sexually harm: A case study. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, 19(3), 345-356. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13552600.2011.650715
- YJB. (2008). Assessment planning interventions and supervision: Source document. London: Youth Justice Board.